

Characterization of diagnostic biomarkers for Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection

Laura E. Savolainen

Department of Bacteriology and Immunology Haartman Institute and Doctoral Program in Biomedicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Academic Dissertation

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in the Lecture Hall 2 of Haartman Institue, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on December 12th, 2014, at 12 o'clock noon.

Supervisor:

Docent Tamara Tuuminen, MD, PhD Department of Bacteriology and Immunology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

and

Eastern Finland Laboratory Centre Joint Authority Enterprise Mikkeli, Finland

Reviewers:

Professor Jorma Ilonen, MD, PhD Department of Medical Bacteriology and Immunology University of Turku Turku, Finland

Docent Tuomas Virtanen, MD, PhD Department of Clinical Microbiology University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

Opponent:

Professor Jukka Pelkonen, MD, PhD Department of Clinical Microbiology University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

Printed at Hansaprint Oy ISBN 978-951-51-0365-9 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-0366-6 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/ ©2014 Laura E. Savolainen

Contents

Original publications	5
Abbreviations	6
Abstract	8
Tiivistelmä	10
1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
1.1. History and epidemiology of tuberculosis	12
1.2. Mycobacterium tuberculosis	13
1.2.1. Taxonomy and characteristics	13
1.2.2. Structure of the cell envelope	14
1.3. Tuberculosis	15
1.3.1. Pathogenesis	15
1.3.2. The cells of the adaptive immune response	
1.4. Vaccination	20
1.5. Antibiotic treatment of tuberculosis	20
1.6. Diagnostics of tuberculosis	21
1.6.1. Conventional methods	21
1.6.2. Nucleic acid amplification techniques	23
1.6.3. Molecular line probe assays	23
1.6.4. Immunological methods	24
1.6.5. Antigen detection	32
1.6.6. Other methods	35
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Ethical statements	38
3.2. Study population	38
3.3. Sample preparation and storage	40
3.4. Antigens	40
3.4.1. Recombinant proteins	40
3.4.2. Synthetic peptides	41
3.4.3. Extracts	41
3.5. Methods	41
3.5.1. Heparin-binding hemagglutinin ELISA (study I)	41
3.5.2. ELISPOT (study I, III)	41
3.5.3. Lipoarabinomannan ELISA (study II)	42
3.5.4. Flow-cytometric analysis (study III)	42
3.5.5. RT-qPCR (study IV)	43
3.5.6. Statistical analyses	43

4. RESULTS	.44
4.1. Ability of the immune response to HBHA to discriminate between the	
stages of TB (study I)	.44
4.1.1. Cell-mediated immune response measured by ELISPOT	.44
4.1.2. IgG and IgM response	.45
4.2. Lipoarabinomannan detection for the diagnostics of active TB (study II)	.46
4.2.1. Comparison of the modified and the original method to detect uLAM	.46
4.2.2. Studies on factors interfering with the specificity of the assay	.48
4.3. Properties and function of cytotoxic T cells in different study	
groups (study III)	.49
4.3.1. Production of granzyme B and perforin by antigen-stimulated	
cytotoxic T cells measured by ELISPOT	.49
4.3.2. Flow-cytometric analysis of CD107a- and IFN-γ-expressing cells	.50
4.3.3. Correlation between the different markers of cytotoxicity	.51
4.3.4. Characterization of the surface marker expression of	
antigen-specific CTLs	.52
4.4. Ability of selected immune-related genes to discriminate active TB	
from LTBI (study IV)	.53
4.4.1. mRNA expression levels of IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-4, IL-4 δ 2, and FoxP3 after	
antigen stimulation	.53
4.4.2. IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA expression profiles for the differentiation	
of active TB from LTBI	.53
	51
5.1 Diagnostic uses of the HBHA antigen in the BCG-vaccinated nonulation	55
5.2. Linoarabinomannan as a diagnostic marker for tuberculosis	56
5.2. Epoarabinomannan as a diagnostic marker for tuberculosis	57
5.4 JEN-y, JL-17 and JL-4 mRNA expression in the differential diagnosis of	.57
M tuberculosis infection stages	59
6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	.60
Acknowledgements	.61
References	.63

Original publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I **Savolainen L**, Pusa L, Kim HJ, Sillanpää H, Seppälä I, Tuuminen T. Pilot study of diagnostic potential of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* recombinant HBHA protein in a vaccinated population in Finland. PLoS ONE 2008, Sep;3(9):e3272.
- II Savolainen L, Kantele A, Sandboge B, Sirén M, Valleala H, Tuompo R, Pusa L, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Knuuttila A, Ku CL, Chi CY, Vasankari T, Tuuminen T. Modification of Clearview tuberculosis (TB) enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for TB patients not infected with HIV. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2013, 20: 1479-1482.
- III Savolainen LE, Koskivirta P, Kantele A, Valleala H, Pusa L, Tuompo R, Westerlund-Wikström B, Tuuminen T. Cytotoxic response persists in subjects treated for tuberculosis decades ago. BMC Infect Dis 2013, 13: 573.
- IV Savolainen LE, Kantele A, Knuuttila A, Pusa L, Karttunen R, Valleala H, Tuuminen T. Pilot investigation of the combined expression of IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA for discriminating latent infection in patients with miscellaneous inflammatory conditions from active tuberculosis. Submitted.

Abbreviations

AFB	Acid-fast bacilli
AUC	Area under the curve
BCG	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin
CFP-10	Culture filtrate protein-10
CFU	Colony forming unit
CTLs	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DC	Dendritic cells
DosR	Dormancy regulon
ECDC	European Center for Disease Prevention and Control
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked immune spot assay
EPTB	Extrapulmonary TB
ESAT-6	Early secretory antigenic target-6
FoxP3	Forkhead box P3
GrB	Granzyme B
HBHA	Heparin-binding hemagglutinin
HHC	Household contact
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HRCT	High-resolution computed tomography
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IGRA	Interferon-gamma release assay
IL	Interleukin
IP-10	IFN-γ-inducible protein-10
kDa	Kilo dalton
LAM	Lipoarabinomannan
LAMP	Loop-mediated isothermal amplification
LTBI	Latent tuberculosis infection
MDR	Multidrug resistant
Mod.	Treated with modern treatment for TB
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NAATs	Nucleic acid amplification tests
NK	Natural killer
nHBHA	Native HBHA
NTM	Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
Part.	Partially treated for TB
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
Perc.	Percentile
PIMs	Phosphatidylinositolmannosides
PPD	Purified protein derivative
Prf	Perforin
РТВ	Pulmonary TB
QFT-IT	QuantiFERON [®] -TB Gold In-Tube
rCFP-10	Recombinant CFP-10
RD	Region of difference
rESAT-6	Recombinant ESAT-6

rMS-HBHA	Recombinant HBHA produced in M. smegmatis
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic curve
RT-qPCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR
sICAM-1	Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1
suPAR	Serum urokinase plasminogen activator receptor
Surg.	Treated without chemotherapy for TB
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TB⁺HIV⁻	TB patients without HIV co-infection
TB ⁺ HIV ⁺	TB patients with HIV co-infection
T _{CM}	Central memory T cell
T _{EM}	Effector memory T cell
T _{EMRA}	Terminally-differentiated effector memory T cell
Th	T helper
T _N	Naïve T cell
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
Treg	Regulatory T cell
TST	Tuberculin skin test
uLAM	Urinary LAM

Abstract

Tuberculosis (TB) still ranks among the most lethal infectious diseases in the world. The traditional distinction between active tuberculosis and latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) is changing; at the moment, tuberculosis infection is described as a continuum with different stages of infection. The development of TB prevention, treatment and diagnostics is hampered by the diverse pathogenesis of the disease and the ability of the bacteria to fight host defence mechanisms. Traditional culture methods are slow and staining methods not sufficiently sensitive. Nucleic acid amplification techniques (NAAT) tend to be costly and in some cases lack sensitivity. New methods are needed for rapid and inexpensive detection of active disease and to distinguish between stages of infection in cases where the patient presents with symptoms compatible with active TB and with a positive Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA) result, but bacteriological confirmation is not yet available. In addition, methods are needed that enable us to predict the activation of infection or monitor the effects of treatment.

The aim of this thesis was to investigate: a) the possible diagnostic use of heparin-binding haemagglutinin (HBHA), a surface protein of *M. tuberculosis*, in distinguishing between stages of infection in a vaccinated population; b) the effect of sample concentration on the properties of Clearview[®] TB ELISA, a urine antigen test measuring lipoarabinomannan (LAM), a *M. tuberculosis* glycolipid, in the diagnosis of active TB; c) the suitability of granzyme B (GrB), perforin (Prf), and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ)-producing and CD107a-degranulation factor-expressing cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) for differentiating between stages of infection; d) the suitability of IFN- γ , interleukin (IL) -17, IL-4, IL-4 δ 2 and Forkhead box P3 (FoxP3) mRNA expression levels for differentiation between stages of infection.

The results showed that HBHA-specific cells producing IFN- γ were also found in the circulation of healthy subjects who had been given the Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccine. In view of this, use of the HBHA antigen for diagnostic purposes does not look promising in countries where a widespread vaccination programme has taken place. No differences were found in the numbers or phenotypic properties of CTLs between persons with active TB and those with LTBI, which is why they are not suited for the differential diagnosis of infection stages.

Functional antigen-specific CTLs were found in the circulation of persons who had been treated for TB. This most significant finding of this thesis demonstrates that the T cell memory generated by active TB maintains functionally active CTL populations decades after infection and despite adequate treatment with rifampicin.

Although no statistically significant differences were found between patients with active TB and LTBI in the quantitative detection of IFN- γ , IL-17, or IL-4 mRNA from cells stimulated with purified protein derivative (PPD), this approach revealed a trend towards discrimination. The usefulness of combined quantitative IFN- γ , IL-17, and IL-4 mRNA expression for the differential diagnosis of active TB and LTBI should be retested with a larger sample size enrolling more homogenous patients in the LTBI group.

The findings indicating that LAM may be detected with moderate sensitivity (57%) in the urine samples of TB patients show the greatest promise from a diagnostic point of view. The 100-fold concentration of urine used in this study improved the sensitivity of the Clearview[®] TB ELISA test from 7% to 57%, although specificity was decreased somewhat from 98% to 89%. Based on the results, demonstrating the presence of LAM in urine samples may be considered a potential diagnostic tool for detecting active TB. The method does require further development, however.

Tiivistelmä

Tuberkuloosi (TB) kuuluu vielä nykyisinkin tappavimpiin tartuntatauteihin maailmassa. Perinteinen jako aktiiviseen ja latenttiin tuberkuloosiin (LTBI) on muuttumassa; nyttemmin tuberkuloosi-infektio kuvataan vaihteleva-asteisena jatkumona. Patogeneesin monimuotoisuus ja bakteerin kyky torjua isännän puolustusmekanismeja hankaloittavat ennaltaehkäisyn, hoitomenetelmien ja diagnostiikan kehitystä. Perinteisen TB-viljelyn heikkoutena on hitaus, ja värjäys tiedetään epäherkäksi. Geenimonistusmenetelmien käyttöä puolestaan rajoittaa hintavuus eikä niiden herkkyys aina riitä. Uusia keinoja kaivataan taudin nopeaan ja edulliseen osoittamiseen sekä infektion asteiden erotteluun esimerkiksi tilanteissa, joissa potilaalla on aktiiviseen tuberkuloosiin viittaavia oireita ja positiivinen gammainterferoni (IGRA) -tulos, mutta bakteriologinen varmistus puuttuu. Lisäksi tarvitaan menetelmiä, joilla voidaan ennustaa infektion aktivoitumista tai seurata hoidon vaikutuksia.

Tässä väitöskirjatyössä selvitettiin: a) *M. tuberculosis* -pintaproteiinin, heparin-binding hemagglutiniinin (HBHA), diagnostista käyttömahdollisuutta eroteltaessa rokotetussa väestössä infektion eri asteita; b) konsentroinnin vaikutusta *M. tuberculosis* -bakteerin glykolopidiä, lipoarabinomannaania (LAM), mittaavan virtsan antigeenitestin, Clearview[®] TB ELISA:n, ominaisuuksiin aktiivi-TB-diagnostiikassa; c) granzyme B:tä (GrB), perforiiniä (Prf) ja gammainterferonia (IFN- γ) tuottavien sekä CD107a-degranulaatiofaktoria ekspressoivien sytotoksisten T-lymfosyyttien soveltuvuutta infektion asteiden erotteluun; d) IFN- γ , interleukiini (IL) -17, IL-4, IL-4δ2 ja Forkhead box P3 (FoxP3) -mRNA-ekspressiotasojen toimivuutta infektion asteiden erottelussa.

Tutkimuksessa löydettiin myös terveiden Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) -rokotteen saaneiden verestä HBHA-spesifisiä, IFN-γ:aa tuottavia soluja. HBHA-antigeenia ei siis voitane hyödyntää diagnostiikassa maissa, joissa rokotusohjelmaan on kuulunut lasten BCG-rokotus. Aktiivi-TB- ja LTBI-ryhmien välillä ei havaittu määrällisiä eikä fenotyyppisiä eroavuuksia sytotoksissa T-lymfosyyteissä, joten ne eivät sovellu käytettäviksi infektion asteiden erotusdiagnostiikassa.

Toiminnallisia antigeenispesifisiä sytotoksisia T-lymfosyyttejä havaittiin myös tuberkuloosihoidon saaneiden verinäytteissä. Tämä on väitöskirjan arvokkain löydös. Se osoittaa, että aktiivi-TB:n aikaansaama T-solumuisti ylläpitää toiminnallisesti aktiivista sytotoksisten T-solujen populaatiota vuosikymmeniä, asianmukaisesta rifampisiinihoidosta huolimatta.

Vaikka IFN-γ-, IL-17- ja IL-4 mRNA -ekspressiotasoissa ei esiintynyt tilastollisesti merkitseviä eroja purified protein derivative (PPD) -stimuloiduissa soluissa, aktiivi-TB- ja LTBI-ryhmien välillä oli nähtävissä erotteleva suuntaus. IFN-γ-, IL-17- ja IL-4 mRNA- ekspression hyödyntämistä aktiivi-TB:n erottamiseksi LTBI:stä tulisikin tulevaisuudessa testata suuremmalla ja yhtenäisemmällä LTBI-aineistolla.

Diagnostiikan kannalta lupaavampia ovat tulokset, joiden perusteella LAM voidaan osoittaa tuberkuloosipotilaiden virtsanäytteestä kohtalaisella herkkyydellä (57%). Tässä työssä käytetty virtsan satakertainen konsentrointi paransi Clearview[®] TB ELISA -testin herkkyyttä 7%:sta 57%:iin; spesifisyys tosin samalla heikkeni 98%:sta 89%:iin. LAM:n osoittamista virtsanäytteestä voidaan mahdollisesti hyödyntää aktiivi-TB:n diagnosoinnissa, tosin menetelmä vaatisi vielä kehittämistä.

1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1. History and epidemiology of tuberculosis

The disease tuberculosis (TB) has been known for millennia, and the causative agent, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*M. tuberculosis*), is thought to have existed for 150 000 years [1]. *M. tuberculosis* has been found by PCR sequencing from a 17 000-year-old bone of a bison in Wyoming, USA [2]. In humans, *M. tuberculosis* has been detected from the bone of Neolithic infant and a woman in a 9000-year-old settlement in the Eastern Mediterranean [3]. The characteristic lesion of the disease, the tubercle, was first described by Laennec in 1819, and the disease was named tuberculosis by Johann Lukas Schönlein in 1834. A few decades later, Jean-Antoine Villemin demonstrated the transmissibility of the infection. After centuries of speculation, in 1882, the German scientist Robert Koch reported the isolation of tubercle bacillus, the causative agent of tuberculosis. One year later, the bacillus was named *M. tuberculosis*. [1, 4]

Worldwide, TB remains a major health problem. It has been ranked as the second leading cause of death by an infectious disease after the human immune deficiency virus (HIV) infection. Almost 9 million new TB cases and 1.3 million TB deaths (including 300 000 HIV-associated cases) were estimated in 2012. Most of the cases occurred in Asia (58%) and Africa (27%), with fewer cases in the Eastern Mediterranean region (8%), the European region (4%) and the region of the Americas (3%). Multidrug-resistant (MDR), extensively drug-resistant (XDR), and most recently, *M. tuberculosis* strains that are resistant to all anti-tuberculosis drugs have emerged over the past two decades. In 2012, there were 450 000 estimated MDR-TB cases among diagnosed pulmonary TB patients, from which the highest incidences were in Eastern European and Central Asian countries. [5]

In Finland, there were almost 9000 TB deaths per year in 1930, and TB was a dreaded national disease. The incidence and death rates began to decline in the 1940s due to the development of the first anti-tuberculous drugs and the establishment of national preventative programs with sanatorium activity. [6] In 2012, only 261 new TB cases and 3 MDR-TB cases were recorded in Finland [5]. However, increasing immigration and high incidence rates in neighboring countries, as well as the reactivation risk in persons infected in the 1940s and 1950s, are causes for concern at present.

Currently, the prevention, control, vaccination, diagnostics and treatment of TB are accurately monitored worldwide by the surveillance programs of WHO, the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and the European Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (ECDC). Although the incidence rates have decreased worldwide during the last decade, the challenges in tuberculosis control remain.

1.2. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*

1.2.1. Taxonomy and characteristics

Mycobacteria are acid-fast, aerobic, non-motile, non-encapsulated and non-spore-forming bacilli with a high DNA GC content. The genus *Mycobacterium* is the only member of the *Mycobacteriacae* family, but forms a uniform group with a range of other mycolic acidcontaining genera, namely *Gordonia*, *Tsukamurella*, *Nocardia*, and *Rhodococcus*. *M. tuberculosis* belongs to the *M. tuberculosis* complex, together with the species *M. bovis*, *M. africanum*, *M. microti*, *M. canettii*, and *M. pinnipedii*, forming a tight and discrete group with >95% DNA-DNA homology. [7] The complete genome of the first sequenced laboratory strain of *M. tuberculosis*, H37Rv, consists of 4.4 x 10⁶ base pairs and contains approximately 4000 genes, including regions that are deleted in other members of the complex [8].

M. tuberculosis is an obligate intracellular pathogen, which most successfully infects tissues with a high oxygen content, such as the lungs, but can infect almost any organ of the host. It principally infects humans, but can also infect several other animal species. *M. tuberculosis* divides extremely slowly (15–20 hours) compared to other bacteria and has the ability to persist in a latent state. Mycobacteria are highly resistant to desiccation, alkaline conditions, chemical disinfectants, and therapeutic agents. This resistance is related to the unusual structure and low permeability of the mycobacterial cell wall. [7, 9] *M. tuberculosis* lacks such virulence factors as toxins. However, important virulence determinants have been found, for example, in the categories of cell envelope proteins, lipid and fatty acid metabolism, proteases, gene expression regulators, and the proteins inhibiting antimicrobial response of macrophages, such as phagolysosome fusion and the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen. [10]

1.2.2. Structure of the cell envelope

The peptidoglycan of mycobacteria contains a unique *meso*-diaminopimelic acid and an *N*-glycosylated muramic acid residue, in contrast to the *N*-acetylation of other bacteria. Together with its unique polysaccharide, arabinogalactan, supplemented by mycolic acids, peptidoglycan composes the core of the cell wall, the mycolylarabinogalactan-peptidoglycan (mAGP) complex. Phosphatidylinositolmannosides (PIMs) are the main plasma membrane components and form the lipid anchor of lipoarabinomannan (LAM) and lipomannan, which belong to the upper segment of the cell wall together with free lipids and proteins (Figure 1). [11, 12]



Figure 1. The mycobacterial cell wall. Reprinted with permission from Oxford University Press: Glycobiology [12], copyright 2013.

1.3. Tuberculosis

TB is an airborne infectious disease caused by mycobacteria, usually by M. tuberculosis. In most cases, it occurs in the lungs of the host. Infection outside the lung is called extrapulmonary TB (EPTB). The transmission of infection ensues when a susceptible person inhales M. tuberculosis-containing particles, or droplet nuclei, generated for example by coughing or sneezing of a patient with pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB) [7]. A person inhaling M. tuberculosis aerosols has a 5–10% risk of developing active TB, a rapidly progressive disease that can be diagnosed with microbiological, radiological, or histological findings. The risk of disease activation is the highest within the first few years after transmission. Most immunocompetent persons develop an effective immune response and succeed in eliminating M. tuberculosis, or remain asymptomatic and non-infectious, having a so-called latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI). The diagnosis of LTBI is based on the known history of TB exposure and the measurement of a host's immune response to M. tuberculosis antigens using either tuberculin skin test (TST) or interferon-y (IFN-y) release assay (IGRA). [9, 13] Nowadays, the traditional dichotomy of active TB and LTBI is changing to a continuum of infection, including a wide spectrum of infection stages. Presently, LTBI is defined to range from the completely cleared infection to the stage where replicating bacteria without clinical symptoms are present. Meanwhile, active TB can represent diverse presentations from a subclinical infection to a clinical disease with an extensive load of replicating bacteria. [13]

1.3.1. Pathogenesis

The interaction between *M. tuberculosis* and its host is complex and the pathogenesis and immunological processes are not yet well understood. For example, regulation of the transition from primary growth to persistence, further reactivation of LTBI, bacterial determinants required for persistence, and the metabolic state of *M. tuberculosis* during latency are currently under investigation. [14]

1.3.1.1. Infection initiation and innate immunity

After *M. tuberculosis* is inhaled in respiratory droplets, it is ingested by airway antigenpresenting cells, such as monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) [15]. The recognition and binding of cell wall components, such as mannose-capped LAM (ManLAM) and PIMs, as well as bacterial uptake, are executed by numerous receptors, including C-type lectin receptors, complement receptors and scavenger receptors. Toll-like receptors and nucleotide-binding oligomerization receptors are important for the induction of synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines. [16] Upon *M. tuberculosis* recognition, pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-6, IL-21, IL-1 β , and IL-12p40, are expressed by phagocytic cells mentioned above [17]. Infected phagocytes migrate across the alveolar epithelium into the lung tissue, where granuloma formation is initiated by macrophages [18]. Infected macrophages express vimentin, which is recognized by the NKp46 receptor of natural killer (NK) cells. Activated NK cells lyse *M. tuberculosis*-infected macrophages with a help of antimicrobial granulysin. [19] In early mycobacterial infection in mice, $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been reported to be a major source of proinflammatory IL-17. These cells get activated antigenindependently by IL-23. IL-17 has a role in the initiation of granuloma formation and early neutrophil recruitment. [17] Neutrophils are rapidly recruited to the infection site after infection initiation. They directly internalize mycobacteria using pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) or by opsonization and lyse them with mechanisms such as human neutrophil proteins (HNPs), stored in azurophilic granules. Neutrophils also participate in the recruitment of macrophages. [20]

M. tuberculosis is transported by DCs to the local draining lymph nodes and antigens are presented to naïve T cells. CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells recognize the bacterial peptide epitopes presented by classical MHC class I and II molecules, respectively. [21] Furthermore, nonclassically restricted CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells recognize lipid and glycolipid antigens presented by CD1 molecules [22]. Recruited T cells travel to the lung tissue and are present in the mature granuloma. Their role is crucial for the control of infection after the acute phase. After the onset of adaptive immunity, most humans become asymptomatic and are considered to have LTBI. [21, 23]

Approximately 5% of infected subjects rapidly develop progressive disease, active TB. Usually, most immunocompetent persons eliminate the invading bacteria or maintain the infection in a latent state. These subjects develop an effective adaptive immune response and remain free of symptoms. A proportion of these might later develop an active disease, a process called disease reactivation. [9, 13] The risk of disease reactivation is significantly increased in immune-compromised patients. However, only a few mechanisms explaining reactivation in humans have been consistently identified. These are the therapeutic neutralization of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), the quantitative and qualitative loss of CD4⁺ T cells in HIV-infected persons [23], and a deficiency of vitamin D [19]. Other conditions and mechanisms associated with reactivation, such as diabetes mellitus, malnutrition, T-cell exhaustion and altered antigen expression, have also been suggested, but not thoroughly proven. [23]

1.3.1.2. Immune evasion and the roles of granulomas

M. tuberculosis uses many immune evasion mechanisms during the innate immunity stage, such as the prevention of phagosome-lysosome fusion, the inhibition of host cell apoptosis, the neutralization of toxic oxygen and nitrogen intermediates, and the inhibition of IFN-y receptor-mediated signaling [21]. Due to these mechanisms, pathogenic mycobacteria are able to resist or evade the host immune response during the innate immunity stage. This delayed initiation of adaptive immunity allows uncontrolled growth of bacteria in the lungs during the innate immunity stage and leads to the progression of infection. [23] The hostprotective role of the granuloma, the well-organized hallmark structure of tuberculosis, has traditionally dominated in the literature. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that poorly formed granulomas and hypersusceptibility to *M. tuberculosis* occur under TNF-α, IFNy, or IL-12 deficiency. [18] However, it has recently been demonstrated in a zebra fish embryo model that the early granuloma benefits the pathogenic mycobacteria. The ESX-1 type VII secretion system, encoded by the region of difference 1 (RD1) virulence locus, has been shown to promote the recruitment of macrophages to granulomas and drive the necrotic death of infected cells. This allows the release of intracellular bacteria and further expansion of the bacterial population into newly recruited macrophages. [24]

The tuberculous granuloma can be caseous, consisting of an acellular necrotic center with surrounded macrophages, neutrophils, DCs, natural killer cells, and B and T lymphocytes (Figure 2). Necrotic neutrophilic, fibrotic, and suppurative granulomas also occur. Ghon's complex, with a calcified granuloma in a single lung lobe and associated draining lymph node, has been related to LTBI. In this form of a granuloma, successful immune responses with fewer inflammatory cells are present. [15, 18, 25]



Figure 2. Cell organization of a mature tuberculous granuloma. The granuloma is a compact aggregate that is formed by linked specialized macrophages, epithelioid cells, and fused multinucleated giant cells. Foam cells are located on the edge of the necrotic center and bacteria are present in macrophages and other phagocytic cells, but also extracellularly in necrotic areas of the granuloma. The mature granuloma contains many other cell types, such as dendritic cells and T and B cells. Reprinted with permission from Nature Publishing Group: Nature Reviews Immunology [18], copyright 2014.

Recently, in models with cynomolgus macaques, the spectrum of lesions, including Ghon's complexes, was described in animals with active TB. Subclinical TB, in which macaques had no clinical symptoms but had positive bronchoalveolar lavage fluid cultures for *M. tuberculosis*, was demonstrated. [26, 27] Most recently, similar bacterial killing capacity in individual lesions of active TB and LTBI has been reported. In active TB, high variation in sterilizing activity between lesions has been recorded within a single macaque. [28]

In humans, a range of lesion types found in active TB, with replicating bacteria, have also been demonstrated in LTBI using the high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) analysis [29]. On the other hand, a strong evidence for nonreplicating persistence of *M. tuberculosis* during latency has been reported. This study was performed with clinical isolates recovered during primary infection and reactivation of the disease in the same persons more than three decades later. No sequence variation between the pairs was detected [30]. Because a variety of granuloma types are found in active TB, LTBI, and in disease reactivation, the function of the granuloma, rather than its structure has been suggested to be essential for the determination of the infection stage. [15]

1.3.2. The cells of the adaptive immune response

1.3.2.1. CD4⁺ T cells

T helper (Th)1 cells. The specific immune response against M. tuberculosis consists of a variety of cell types. Best characterized are CD4⁺ Th1 cells [21]. The development and maintenance of Th1 cells is induced by IL-12 [31]. After phagocytosis of M. tuberculosis, macrophages and DCs produce IL-12 which induces the effector functions of CD4⁺ T cells, especially the production of IFN- γ . Together with TNF- α , IFN- γ induce the antimycobacterial effects of macrophages. In TB, IFN-y is produced by most infected subjects and its secretion is induced by a variety of mycobacterial antigens. However, IFN-y secretion correlates poorly with protection. [21] It has been suggested that CD4⁺ T cells also have other functions in the control of TB, such as the promotion of Fas-L-mediated apoptosis of infected macrophages and the secretion of other cytokines, including IL-2 and TNF- α [14]. The high frequencies of polyfunctional CD4⁺ T cells that secrete multiple cytokines have been suggested to correlate with protection in chronic virus infections with a low antigen load [32]. Recently, the same has also been proposed for TB. In a few studies, higher frequencies of CD4⁺ T cells producing IFN- γ , IL-2, and TNF- α have been recorded in the blood of subjects with LTBI than in that of patients with active TB [33, 34]. Whereas, in some other studies polyfunctionality have been related to active TB [35, 36].

Th2 cells. The Th2 pathway assisting humoral immune response is more important for the protection against extracellular pathogens. It has a lesser impact against intracellular pathogens [37]. Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, and regulate antibody-mediated immunity [38]. In TB, Th2 cells have been association with decreased immunity and increased immunopathology [38, 39]. Moreover, excess production of IL-4 is related to a depressed Th1 response [40] and increased disease severity [41]. IL-4 δ 2, the splice variant and antagonist of IL-4, has an opposite role and is related to the control of *M. tuberculosis* infection [42, 43].

Regulatory T cells (Tregs). Inducible Tregs arise in the periphery from conventional CD4⁺ T cells in response to specific stimulatory signals, while natural Tregs develop in the thymus after a normal maturation process [44]. A specific marker and unique transcription factor of natural Tregs, forkhead box P3 (FoxP3), is required for the generation of these cells. The regulatory mechanisms exploited by Tregs suppress the effector functions of T cells, which limit immune-mediated tissue pathology but may also result in a failure to control an infection. [45] In TB, Tregs delay the priming of adaptive immune cells and their migration to the lungs, a phenomenon which allows uncontrolled replication of *M. tuberculosis*. The number of Tregs at the infection site and in the periphery is increased in active TB. That positively correlates with the bacterial burden and severity of the disease. However, it is not known whether the expansion of Tregs is a cause or a consequence of advanced TB. [44]

Th17 cells. A recently recognized cell subset, Th17 cells produce effector molecules IL-17, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22, which induce tissue inflammation. Th17 cells are linked to autoimmunity, but have also been associated with some bacterial infections, including TB. [46] Induced in draining lymph nodes, Th17 cells migrate to the lungs and execute effector functions [17]. In mice, this cell subset has been shown to respond rapidly after antigen challenge. They help to recruit neutrophils and effector cells, such as IFN-γ-producing cells, and that promotes granuloma formation [17, 47]. Whether these cells play a role in the protection against or the control of TB is not yet well known. Excessive production of IL-17 potentially mediates immunopathology and has detrimental effects on the lung tissue. The balance between Th1 and Th17 cells during TB is essential in promoting immunity and preventing immunopathological consequences. [17]

Th9 cells. Th9 cells are a recently identified cell population distinct from Th1, Th2, and Th17 subsets. They have been suggested to participate in inflammation and the development of allergic reactions. [48] Th9 cells have also been found in the pleural fluid of patients with TB pleurisy [49]. In the same study, constructed with cells isolated from the pleural effusion of patients with TB pleurisy, differentiation into the Th9 cell subset from CD4⁺ T cells was shown to be induced by transforming growth factor- β and IL-4 and suppressed by IFN- γ [49]. In addition, a positive correlation between Th9 and Th17 cell frequencies and the contribution of IL-9 to Th17 differentiation has been reported [49]. The function of Th9 cells in the pathophysiology of TB is not yet known. [50]

1.3.2.2. Cytotoxic CD8⁺T cells

CD8⁺ T cells contribute to the control of *M. tuberculosis* infection. They recognize *M. tuberculosis* antigens and produce effector molecules, such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 [34, 51], but also lyse infected cells and kill intracellular bacteria via the granule exocytosis pathway [52]. A protective role of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) has been suggested by human studies in which higher frequencies of *M. tuberculosis* -specific CD8⁺ T cells producing perforin (Prf)- and granzyme B (GrB) were found in the household contacts (HHC) of TB patients and healthy vaccinated subjects compared to patients with active TB. In these studies, reduced cytotoxic activity in patients with active TB has also been reported. [53, 54] In addition, the lytic activity of CD8⁺ T cells has been found to decrease gradually with increasing severity of the disease [55]. Furthermore, increases in the frequency of Antigen

85A peptide-specific Prf-producing effector cells have been observed after four months of anti-TB treatment [56].

1.3.2.3. B cells and humoral immune response

Recently, also B cells and the humoral immune response have been suggested to possess a protective role against *M. tuberculosis*. For example, increased immunopathological consequences and susceptibility to *M. tuberculosis* have been shown in B cell-deficient mice [57]. Furthermore, monoclonal antibodies to *M. tuberculosis* surface components have been reported to increase survival times, and reduce disease dissemination and bacterial burden in experimentally infected mice [58]. The inhibition of Fcy receptors, expressed by antigen-presenting cells, in the lungs of *M. tuberculosis*-infected mice limited the protection and suggests the beneficial role of humoral immunity [59]. In humans, a wide variety of *M. tuberculosis* antigens have been reported to induce the antibody response. BCG vaccination has been shown to induce IgG and IgM responses to several antigens, especially LAM. [58] LAM-specific IgG antibodies have been demonstrated to assist cell-mediated immunity by increasing phagocytosis by neutrophils and antigen processing and presentation by DCs [60].

1.4. Vaccination

The Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccine contains a live attenuated strain of *M. bovis*, originally isolated from cattle. It was used for the first time in 1921, and following the WHO Expanded Program of Immunization in 1974, vaccination coverage rates soon exceeded 80% in TB endemic countries. However, BCG vaccination has a limited impact on TB transmission. It is only protective against childhood TB meningitis and disseminated TB. [61] In Finland, the BCG vaccination program for newborns began in the 1940s and a 98% vaccine coverage was subsequently achieved. In many low incidence countries, such as Sweden and Norway, only children in risk groups are vaccinated. After careful risk and cost-effectiveness assessments, since 2006 the vaccinations have also been targeted at risk groups in Finland. [62]

1.5. Antibiotic treatment of tuberculosis

M. tuberculosis is resistant to many common antibiotics [63]. Treatment comprises a combination of three or more anti-TB drugs for a period of at least 6 months. The first effective antimicrobial agents against clinical TB, streptomycin (SM) and para-amino salt of salicylic acid (PAS), were discovered in the 1940s. In the 1950s, 24-month triple therapy with isoniatzid (INH), SM and PAS resulted in a cure for 90–95% of patients. Later, ethambutol (EMB) replaced para-amino salt of salicylic acid. The first bactericidal antibiotic, rifampicin (RMP), was included in the treatment of TB in the 1970s. In the 1980s, a 6-month therapy with pyrazinamide (PYR), isoniazid, and rifampicin was found to be effective and is still used as the first-line anti-TB treatment. [64, 65] Following the emergence of drug-resistant strains, new antibiotic classes, such as fluoroquinolones have been used. The increasing rate of resistance necessitates a continuous search for new drug candidates. [66]

1.6. Diagnostics of tuberculosis

The diagnosis of active TB has traditionally been based on clinical and radiological findings, acid-fast bacilli (AFB) smear microscopy and *M. tuberculosis* culture. Since the last decade, nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs) have also been widely used. LTBI can be diagnosed with the radiological findings, known history of *M. tuberculosis* exposure and TST or IGRAs. [9, 67, 68] The following sections introduce the conventional and some non-conventional methods and host- or pathogen-specific markers (Table 1) investigated during the last decades.

1.6.1. Conventional methods

AFB smear microscopy is still the most widely used rapid and inexpensive method for TB diagnosis, especially in developing countries [7]. The method is also used to determine the contagious level of the infection [127]. However, the sensitivity of smear microscopy varies from 20% to 80%, and in other than respiratory samples the diagnostic yield is lower. From 10⁴ to 10⁶ AFB/ml is usually required for a positive result. The specificity is high, being up to 94%, in high prevalence areas. [7] Improved sensitivity has been shown with fluorescence microscopy with auramine or acridine compared to conventional methods with carbolfuchsin [128], and also when a sample volume of more than 5 ml is concentrated by cytocentrifugation [129, 130]. In the future, smear microscopy could be improved, for example, by using ultra-bright light-emitting diodes (LED) in microscopy [131].

Culture is the gold standard for the laboratory confirmation of TB, but it requires 2–6 weeks of incubation. Since the 1990s, more rapid and sensitive semi-automated and automated culture systems using liquid media instead of Löwenstein-Jensen solid media have been developed. At present, systems such as the BACTEC 460TB (Becton Dickinson, NJ, USA), BACTEC MGIT 960 (Becton Dickinson) and MB/BacT ALERT 3D (bioMérieux, Craponne, France), are widely used. With these methods, in a smear-positive specimen the average detection time is 9 to 14 days for *M. tuberculosis*, and the limits of detection vary between 10–100 colony-forming units (CFU) per ml. [7] Isolation of bacteria is required for drug-susceptibility testing and genotyping [9]. Sputum culture and staining have also been used for the quantification of mycobacteria and the evaluation of treatment success. Moreover, a decline in the CFUs of *M. tuberculosis* in sputum has been shown to be an objective and reproducible method for measuring the early bactericidal activity of anti-TB agents. [132]

Marker	Sample and/or method	Associated outcome	Reference
Antigens for immunological assays			
HBHA protein	PBMCs, IFN-γ concentration	LTBI 个	69-71
DosR proteins	PBMCs, IFN-γ concentration	LTBI 个	72-76
RD peptides and proteins	PBMCs, IFN-γ concentration / frequency of IFN-γ-producing cells	Contact with M. tuberculosis个	77-79
Chemokines and cytokines			
IP-10	Plasma concentration	Contact with <i>M. tuberculosis</i> 个	80-88
IL-4/IL-4δ2, IL-4/IFN-γ	mRNA from unstimulated PBMCs	Treatment response $ ightarrow$ Infection reactivation $ ightarrow$	41, 89
Antigen detection			
LAM	Urine concentration	Active TB \uparrow / treatment response \downarrow	90-107
Antigen 85	Serum/sputum concentration	Active TB \uparrow / treatment response \downarrow	108-111
Rv1681	Urine concentration	Active TB 个	112, 113
Molecular methods			
Transrenal DNA	Urine	Active TB 个	114, 115
LAMP	Sputum	Active TB 个	116, 117
Non-specific markers			
Volatile organic compounds	Breath	Active PTB 个	118, 119
Neopterin	Serum concentration	Treatment response \downarrow / relapse \uparrow	120, 121
sICAM1	Serum concentration	Treatment response \downarrow	122, 123
suPAR	Serum concentration	Risk of mortality 个	123-126

Table 1. Diagnostic markers of TB under research.

1.6.2. Nucleic acid amplification techniques

Reliable and rapid direct NAATs became routine, supplemental procedures in many settings, during the 1990s [133]. However, the sensitivity of commercial tests ranged from 81.8% to 100% in smear-positive and from 35.3% to 95.9% in smear-negative respiratory samples [134]. A recently evaluated cartridge-based, automated and rapid real-time PCR method, the Xpert MTB/RIF assay (Cepheid, Sunnyvale, CA, USA), simultaneously detects *M. tuberculosis* and the *rpoB* mutation related to rifampicin resistance [135]. The method displayed 98.7% and 75.0% sensitivity in smear-positive and smear-negative PTB cohorts, respectively, and 98.4% overall specificity was found. In the same meta-analysis, an rifampicinresistance gene was found with 94.1% sensitivity and 97.0% specificity. [136] WHO has endorsed the use of Xpert MTB/RIF in diagnostic tests for persons suspected of MDR-TB or HIV-associated TB. However, this does not eliminate the need for conventional methods. [137]

A method developed in the last decade that is highly specific and simple to perform, i.e. the loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) technique using six primer sets, has been evaluated [116, 117, 138]. LAMPs have advantages over other NAATs in terms of their low cost and simplicity, and they have been introduced as promising platforms, especially for resource-poor settings. High specificity and sensitivity in the evaluated LAMPs has been shown with smear- and culture-positive samples. However, lower sensitivity has been found in smear-negative samples. [116, 117, 138]

1.6.3. Molecular line probe assays

The Inno-LiPA Rif.TB (Innogenetics, Zwijndrecht, Belgium), Genotype MTBDR, and Genotype MTBDR*plus* (Hain Lifescience, Gmbh, Germany) line probe assays can be used to detect the *M. tuberculosis* complex and mutations in the *rpoB* gene. Genotype MTBDR also identifies the mutation in the *katG* gene and Genotype MTBDR*plus* mutations in the *katG* and *inhA* genes, both related to isoniatsid resistance. Based on the WHO report with the pooled data from systemic reviews and meta-analysis, *rpoB* mutations can be detected from *M. tuberculosis* isolates with 97% sensitivity and 99% specificity using the Inno-LiPA Rif.TB. Moreover, 98.1% sensitivity and 98.7% specificity can be achieved from *M. tuberculosis* isolates using Genotype MTBDR assays, but also from the smear-positive pulmonary samples. Isoniatsid resistance can be detected with 90% sensitivity and 99.5% specificity using the MTBDR*plus* assay. [139]

1.6.4. Immunological methods

1.6.4.1. Tuberculin skin test

In 1890, Dr Robert Koch prepared tuberculin, a glycerol extract of mycobacteria, for the cure for tuberculosis. However it caused a febrile reaction in patients. It was later used for diagnosis. In 1907, Dr. Clemens von Pirquet was the first to perform the tuberculin skin reaction test (TST) with an intracutaneous injection. Later, Dr. Charles Mantoux modified the method. He injected tuberculin with a needle but not with a help of skin incision. Since 1930s, a sterilized filtrate of *M. tuberculosis* culture, the purified protein derivative (PPD) has been used in the TST. [140] The TST measures a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction to PPD after an intradermal injection [141]. A positive result indicates that a person has an immunological memory to mycobacterial antigens. The method does not discriminate between active TB and LTBI, and it should not be used for the diagnosis of active TB. [142] PPD contains protein components that are shared between all mycobacterial species [143]. Hence, exposure to non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) and BCG vaccination reduces the specificity of the test. Moreover, the sensitivity of TST is limited, especially in patients with advanced TB, HIV-positive individuals, and children [144, 145]. TST requires a return visit for test reading to the clinic three days after the injection [141]. Despite many drawbacks, the method is still used, particularly in developing countries, probably due to the unavailability of accurate and cost-effective methods.

1.6.4.2. Interferon-γ release assays

IGRAs are *in vitro* immune tests based on the detection of antigen-specific T cell immune responses. The methods have been introduced as an alternative to TST for the diagnosis of LTBI. They have been extensively described during the last decade [146]. Two commercial IGRA tests are available. QuantiFERON^{*}-TB Gold In-Tube (QFT-IT) (Qiagen, Germany) quantitates released IFN-γ from the supernatant after whole-blood antigen stimulation using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [147]. T-SPOT^{*}.*TB* (Oxford Immunotec Ltd, Abingdon, UK) measures the frequencies of antigen-specific IFN-γ-producing cells from a purified lymphocyte fraction [148] with an enzyme-linked immune spot assay (ELISPOT) (Figure 3). Both assays use the following *M. tuberculosis*-specific antigens, the early secretory antigenic target-6 (ESAT-6), the culture filtrate protein-10 (CFP-10), and TB7.7 (p4) (only in QFT-IT), which all are absent in most of the NTMs and BCG strains [141, 149]. This feature is advantageous over PPD, especially in populations with a high NTM exposure and general BCG vaccination. Neither of the IGRAs can distinguish between active TB and LTBI [146].

The TB Network European Trials Group and ECDC have carried out systematic reviews and meta-analyses to assess the accuracy of IGRAs in the diagnosis of active TB and LTBI in different populations [150, 151]. As concluded in the ECDC guidance, no added value of IGRAs combined with standard methods for active TB diagnostics has been found. However, in certain clinical situations, including patients with EPTB or negative AFB staining or culture, children, or the differential diagnosis of infection with NTM, IGRAs can be used to supplement the diagnostic work-up. IGRAs should not be used as a rule-out test of active TB. For the diagnosis of LTBI in low-incidence countries, clear advantages over TST have been

shown, and IGRAs can be used in contact-tracing algorithms and in risk assessment to identify individuals for preventative treatment. A negative IGRA result does not rule out LTBI. [146] Only subjects who have an increased risk of developing active TB from LTBI, and would benefit from preventative therapy, should be tested by IGRA. [152]

The estimated sensitivity of IGRAs for the detection of LTBI is 80–90%, when cultureconfirmed TB patients have been tested. In low TB settings, the specificity of over 95% has been identified. The reproducibility of the IGRAs is limited and highly susceptible to numerous factors related to manufacture, sample processing, analytical testing and immunological variability. [152]



Figure 3. Immunological principle of IGRAs. A: Antigen-presenting cells recognize and take up invading *M. tuberculosis* bacteria in the lungs. B: Processed *M. tuberculosis* antigens are presented to naïve T cells in lymphatic organs, and they induce the differentiation of naïve T cells into effector T cells. C: *M. tuberculosis* peptides are incubated *in vitro* with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), including circulating *M. tuberculosis* sensitized effector T lymphocytes and DCs. D: DCs present peptides associated with MHC molecules to effector T lymphocytes , and the activated lymphocytes produce IFN-γ, which is measured with ELISA or ELISPOT.

1.6.4.3. Serodiagnostic tests

There are numerous commercial serological tests for TB diagnostics. WHO has reviewed 67 studies for PTB and 25 studies for EPTB in which serological tests have been evaluated. The sensitivity and specificity of serological tests have varied from 0% to 100% and from 31% to 100%, respectively. The tests are not recommended for use in TB diagnostics. [153]

1.6.4.4. Proposed antigens for immunological assays

1.6.4.4.1. Heparin-binding hemagglutinin

Heparin-binding hemagglutinin (HBHA) is a 28-kilodalton (kDa) surface adhesin produced by all members of the *M. tuberculosis* complex, including *M. bovis* BCG, but not by nonpathogenic *M. smegmatis* [154, 155]. HBHA has hemagglutination and aggregation activity and it binds to the sulfated glycoconjugates of non-phagocytic cells, such as those of pulmonary epithelial cells [154]. This interaction is mediated by the lysine-rich C-terminal region of the protein [156]. It has been demonstrated that HBHA is involved in the extrapulmonary dissemination of *M. tuberculosis* [157]. HBHA has been shown to induce IFN- γ production and protective immunity in mice, however only when native HBHA (nHBHA), that has undergone a post-translational modification, was used in immunization [69]. The modified protein contains a complex methylation pattern in the C-terminal domain, which is absent from recombinant HBHA, produced in *Escherichia coli* [69, 155]. A similar methylation pattern and immunological properties compared to nHBHA were observed when recombinant protein was produced in *M. smegmatis* (rMS-HBHA) [158-160].

rMS-HBHA and nHBHA purified from *M. bovis* BCG have been used in several studies to assess the diagnostic potential of HBHA [70, 71, 159, 160]. In three studies, significantly higher concentrations of IFN- γ were found from LTBI subjects compared to the active TB group after the nHBHA or rMS-HBHA stimulation of PBMCs [70, 71, 160]. In one study, the nHBHA IFN- γ assay was shown to discriminate TST-positive LTBI subjects and active TB patients from healthy subjects, half of whom were vaccinated, with a respective sensitivity of 92% and 55%. A specificity of 94% was observed in both analyses [71]. The same study revealed a significant difference between LTBI and active TB groups. However, a high degree of overlap was present between LTBI and active TB groups, and the discriminative ability between these two groups was not estimated. [71] Comparable IFN- γ levels between persons with LTBI and active TB patients who had successfully completed anti-TB treatment was reported in one study [160].

Only a few of the BCG-vaccinated healthy controls were observed to produce low concentrations of IFN- γ after nHBHA stimulation [70, 71]. In a study in which rMS-HBHA was used, the BCG-vaccinated control group was not included [160].

When antibody responses to HBHA were examined, the majority of the active TB patients, but only a minority of those with LTBI, possessed IgG-class antibodies to nHBHA or rMS-HBHA. No IgG-class antibodies to nHBHA were found from BCG-vaccinated healthy subjects. [70, 159] The presence of rMS-HBHA-specific IgM- and IgG-class antibodies in the serum of treated TB patients has been reported in one study [161]. For the diagnostics, future studies with larger cohorts are needed.

1.6.4.4.2. Latency-associated antigens

Little is known about the mechanisms by which *M. tuberculosis* survives in granulomas during the persistent stage of the infection. The most extensively studied is the oxygen depletion model, in which the gradual depletion of oxygen has been shown to lead to the nonreplicating persistence of bacteria displaying minimal metabolic, chromosomal and structural changes [162]. Besides hypoxia, bacterial respiration has also been shown to be inhibited by low levels of nitric oxide and carbon monoxide produced by immune cells [163, 164]. When *M. tuberculosis* was cultured under these conditions, the dormancy regulon (DosR), including 48 genes, was expressed and the bacteria were prepared for survival in *in vitro* dormancy in a non-replicating form [163, 164]. The DosR regulon has also been demonstrated to be crucial for the rapid resuscitation of growth when aerobic and non-nitric-oxide conditions have been restored [164].

It has been suggested that the DosR regulon plays a protective role in LTBI. The finding that subjects with LTBI, rather than active TB patients, bear specific T cell responses against recombinant DosR regulon antigens suggests that the regulon is expressed during latency [72]. When the diagnostic potential of DosR antigens was investigated with IFN-y ELISA, large differences were observed in antigen recognition between different geographical populations [72-75]. In these studies, most of the recognized antigens in different TSTpositive populations were a probable phosphohexokinase (Rv2029), a hypothetical protein (Rv2628), and a possible nitrate/nitrite transporter (Rv1737) [72-74]. Rv2628-specific IFN-y production has also been associated with cured tuberculosis in an Italian study [165]. When resuscitation-associated antigen Rv3407 was used for the stimulation of PBMCs of individuals of German origin, none of the TB patients but 55% of subjects with LTBI had an IFN-y response in an ELISA assay [76]. Furthermore, different LTBI patients appeared to recognize different epitopes of the antigen [76]. Variation in the recognized latency antigens reveals that the cumulative IFN-y response to all known or a few of the most immunogenic antigens appears to be the most promising approach for differentiation between LTBI or HHCs and active TB [72, 75].

Interestingly, IFN-γ levels measured by ELISA after the stimulation of PBMCs with the resuscitation proteins Rv0867c and Rv2389c have been found to differ significantly between two groups exposed to *M. tuberculosis*, specifically household and community contacts with a positive IGRA result. HHCs with a more intense exposure had a stronger response to these antigens. The result suggests that Rv0867c and Rv2389c antigens distinguish different exposure levels and might predict future disease progression. [166]

1.6.4.4.3. Region of difference

The *M. tuberculosis* genome contains 16 regions, called regions of difference (RDs), that are lacking or deleted in some strains of *M. bovis* and *M. bovis* BCG. Eleven of these 16 RDs of the *M. tuberculosis* strain H37Rv are absent in all the currently used *M. bovis* BCG vaccine strains. [167] The proteins encoded by RDs offer the opportunity to avoid a cross-reaction between *M. tuberculosis* and BCG vaccine-induced immune responses. For example, the RD1-encoded ESAT-6, CFP-10, and TB7.7 are used in IGRA tests, as discussed earlier in this thesis [141].

The diagnostic ability of six proteins from the RD2 and RD11 regions was tested by IFN- γ ELISPOT, and an increase in sensitivity from 86.2% to 92.9% was shown when the IGRA was supplemented with a recombinant small subunit of ribonucleotide reductase antigen, Rv1981c. However, the analysis of samples from vaccinated healthy subjects revealed a decrease in specificity from 100% to 93.3%. [77] In another study, peptides of a putative transcriptional regulatory protein from the RD2 region, Rv1985, showed 96.2% sensitivity and 95.5% specificity when added to the antigen mixture of the QFT-IT assay [78]. These results indicate that the accuracy of the currently used IGRAs might be improved in the future with new antigens.

Antibody responses to RD proteins have also been investigated. In one study, IgG antibody levels to enoyl-CoA hydratase, Rv0222, from the RD4 region reached the cut-off in 98% and 90% of TB patients with or without HIV, respectively, and 90% specificity was reported when vaccinated healthy subjects were tested [79].

1.6.4.4.4. Proteome studies

Recently, genome-scale proteomic analysis has expanded the possibilities to identify antigenic proteins recognized by the antibodies of infected persons. Antibodies to *M. tuberculosis* were measured with high-throughput proteome microarray technology, using microarrays that carried 4099 proteins covering more than 99% of the open reading frames of *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv. The results of this study revealed that antibody targets vary between active TB patients, but the response is mainly focused on extracellular and membrane-associated proteins. [168] In another study involving antibodies to proteins encoded by 87% of the open reading frames of *M. tuberculosis*, 249 antigenic proteins were found, including regulatory proteins and proteins related to lipid transport and metabolism. When the diagnostic potential of 20 of the most antigenic proteins was assessed with serum from 96 active TB patients and 24 healthy controls, the specificity was found to range between 92% and 100%. However, sensitivity varied from 14% to 74%. [169]

1.6.4.5. Immune cells and their markers

1.6.4.5.1. IFN-γ-inducible protein

IFN- γ -inducible protein (IP-10/CXCL-10) is a proinflammatory chemokine induced by IFN- γ and produced by antigen-presenting cells infected with microorganisms. The potential of IP-10 as an alternative or supplemental biomarker to IFN-y for the diagnosis of TB infection has been introduced. [80] Like IFN-y, IP-10 is produced in vitro in patients with active TB and subjects with LTBI, but not in unexposed controls when QFT-IT tubes were used for the stimulation [81, 82]. IP-10 is expressed at higher concentrations than IFN-y [81-83], which may enable assay simplification, for example for dried blood or plasma spots [84]. The IP-10 was found stable in filter papers for at least four weeks, which enables sample delivery over long distances [84]. The IP-10 dried plasma spot method derived from QFT-IT tubes was evaluated in a cohort including 78 active TB patients and 98 healthy controls [85]. Increased sensitivity from 78% to 84%, with a slightly decreased specificity, from 100% to 97%, compared to IFN-y QFT-IT ELISA was found [85]. In the studies with HIV-infected TB patients who had low CD4⁺ T cell counts, slightly increased sensitivity and a lower number of indeterminate results were obtained in an IP-10 assay compared to IFN-γ [86, 87]. In children under five years old, reduced IFN-y, but not IP-10 responses to *M. tuberculosis* antigens were found [88]. Contrary to IFN-y, IP-10 is also expressed at high concentrations by unstimulated cells [82]. The variety of methodologies and cut-offs used complicates the interpretation and comparison of results [80].

1.6.4.5.2. Ratios of IL-4 to IL-4\delta2 and IL-4 to IFN- γ

The importance of an IL-4 response to *M. tuberculosis* was controversial before 2000 due to technical issues [170]. IL-4 has a low messenger RNA (mRNA) copy number and it is a labile cytokine that is produced in low concentrations. Therefore, it is difficult to detect by immunoassays and quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-qPCR). [171] In earlier studies, the methods did not distinguish between IL-4 and IL-4 δ 2, an alternatively spliced variant and antagonist of IL-4 [172, 173]. The later-developed RT-qPCR method has enabled the quantification of IL-4 and IL-4δ2 mRNA separately in unstimulated PBMCs [170]. IL-4 is expressed in higher quantities by the unstimulated PBMCs of active TB patients compared to TST-positive or TB-exposed controls in cohorts from developed countries [89, 174]. In contrast, no differences in IL-4 expression have been detected between patients and HHCs from a TB-endemic region, where elevated exposure to many pathogens, including helminths, is frequent [41]. IL-4 δ 2 expression is related to LTBI rather than to active TB [175]. In the follow-up studies, the ratio between IL-4 and IL-4 δ 2 mRNAs and also IL-4 and IFN- γ mRNAs has been reported to correlate with disease activity and cure. In these studies, the expression of IL-4 δ 2 and IFN-y decreased relative to IL-4 in TB contacts when they developed active TB. During the TB treatment, the expression levels of IL-462 and IFN-y increased relative to IL-4. [41, 89] Variation in the expression levels of IL-4 and IL-4 δ 2 mRNAs in different studies and populations have hampered the use of these genes for diagnostics of active TB or LTBI. However, the ratio between expressions of the two genes may be useful in monitoring the cure or progression of the disease.

1.6.4.5.3. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes

CTLs are effector T lymphocytes that kill tumor cells or cells infected with intracellular pathogens. CTLs destroy their targets by granule exocytosis or by the FAS-ligand pathway. Cytotoxic granules contain membrane-disrupting and pore-forming protein, perforin, serine proteases, namely granzymes, and the antimicrobial agent granulysin. [52] The killing activity of CTLs has been historically measured by chromium (⁵¹Cr) release assays and later by methods monitoring the release of enzymatic fluorescent dyes [176]. The frequencies of antigen-specific CTLs can be measured by tetramer staining. In addition, their ability to produce effector molecules can be analyzed by ELISPOT techniques, or by the flow-cytometric analysis of lysosomal-associated membrane proteins [177, 178]. These glycoproteins include CD107a, CD107b, and CD63, which surround the core of the lytic granules and are found on the surface of activated, degranulating lymphocytes [178]. mRNA expression analysis has also been used for the quantification of up-regulation of cytotoxic molecules [53, 179].

CTLs can be activated *in vitro*, resulting in the increased expression of cytotoxic molecules, such as Prf, GrB, and granulysin, but also in the cytolytic activity when stimulated with a variety of mycobacterial antigens, including live *M. bovis* or *M. tuberculosis*, or *M. tuberculosis*-specific peptides and recombinant proteins [53-55, 179, 180]. It appears that the enumeration of antigen-specific CTLs by methods, such as intracellular staining, is complicated, mainly because the cytotoxic effector molecules are expressed constitutively. It has also been shown that cells expressing effector molecules were not necessarily able to kill their targets. [181] However, antigen-specific GrB and Prf production measured by ELISPOT, or the degranulation factor CD107a-expression have been shown to correlate with cytotoxicity [177, 178, 182].

It has been shown in a mouse model that the cytotoxic potential of CD8⁺ T cells decreased after 20 weeks of infection compared to the early stage of the disease when *M. tuberculosis* was used in an *in vitro* cell stimulation [183]. In another study with mice, cytolytic activity mediated by pulmonary CD8⁺ T cells was still detectable 37 weeks after the initiation of infection when stimulation was performed with CFP-10 peptides [180]. In humans, *M. tuberculosis*-specific CTLs have also been found from HHCs and subjects with LTBI, which may suggest a protective role for CTLs [54, 179]. The diagnostic potential of CTLs has not yet been extensively studied.

1.6.4.5.4. Combinations of immunological markers

Because of the complex pathogenesis of TB, the analysis of only a single immunological marker might not be sufficient for the discrimination of active TB from LTBI. When multivariate analyses were used to assess the discriminative ability of TB disease stages with a combination of multiple immunological markers, high sensitivities and specificities were achieved [184-186]. For example, when the concentrations of seven cytokines were measured following the *in vitro* TB10.4 antigen stimulation of whole blood, the combination of TNF- α , IL-12(p40) and IL-17 resulted in the 61% sensitivity and 97% specificity for the differentiation of active TB patients and HHCs [185]. In another study a total of 45 immune-related genes were analyzed by RT-qPCR in the ESAT-6-stimulated PBMCs of active TB

patients and subjects with LTBI. A combination of IL-8, FoxP3, and IL-12 β gene expression levels differentiated the tested groups with 97% sensitivity and 89% specificity. [184] When, the levels of 17 cytokines or chemokines in the unstimulated plasma samples of active TB patients and HHCs were studied using the Luminex assay, the combination of fractalkine, IFN- γ , IL-4, IP-10, and TNF- α discriminated active TB patients from HHCs, out of whom half were IGRA-positive, with 96.7% sensitivity and 100% specificity. [186]

1.6.4.5.5. High-throughput array techniques

Recently introduced high-throughput array technologies have enabled the searching of broader gene and protein profiles related, for example, to active TB and LTBI. In one study, a distinct 393-transcript signature was determined from the blood of active TB patients when the genome-wide transcription profile was assessed [187]. This signature pattern was found to discriminate between active TB and LTBI with 61.67% sensitivity and 97.75% specificity. However, a lower specificity of 86% was recorded when profiles from active TB patients were compared to patients with other bacterial or inflammatory diseases. [187] A neutrophildriven IFN-inducible gene pattern was found to dominate in patients with the active TB in this study [187]. The dominance of the IFN-inducible gene pattern has also been reported in another study in which a whole-genome array was used. However, the results of this study demonstrated a notable similarity between the gene profiles of patients with active TB and sarcoidosis. [188] In a study in which the array technology was used for the identification of gene profiles of PPD-stimulated PBMCs, 229 transcripts for active TB were identified. The selected genes IP-10, adenolpyrophosphatase-10A, and Toll-like receptor-6 in RT-qPCR differentiated active TB from LTBI with 71% sensitivity and 89% specificity [189].

When the serum protein profiles of TB patients were compared to those of patients with sarcoidosis or other destructive pulmonary pathology by the surface-enhanced laser desorption ionisation time of flight mass spectrometry method (SELDI-TOF-MS), 95.5% sensitivity and 94.9% specificity was recorded. Two out of the 20 most informative peaks were identified and found to be serum amyloid A protein and transthyretin. [190] Later, active TB patients were compared to subjects with LTBI by the same method, and three peak areas overexpressed by active TB patients with 89% sensitivity and 82% specificity were observed [191].

1.6.5. Antigen detection

1.6.5.1. Lipoarabinomannan

LAM is a 17.5 kDa, highly immunogenic and heterogeneous glycolipid associated with the mycobacterial cell wall. It is a virulence factor of *M. tuberculosis* [192]. Attachment in the bacterial cell wall is mediated by a PIMs anchor and extends to around 20 highly branched mannose residues that form the core of the LAM. The molecular termini of rapidly growing strains comprise linear or branched arabinan motifs. In the virulent species of mycobacteria, such as *M. tuberculosis* and *M. bovis,* arabinan motifs are extensively capped with mannan residues (Figure 4). LAM or related structures are also present in other mycobacterial species and other genera of *Actinomycotales,* such as *Corynebacterium.* [12, 193]



Figure 4. Cell-wall-anchored LAMs of *M. tuberculosis, M. smegmatis and C. glutamicum*. LAM of *M. tuberculosis* is terminated by mannan (green) residues resulting in Man-LAM, while Pi-LAM of *M. smegmatis* is capped by phosphoinositol (blue and gray) and LAM of *C. clutamicum* by arabinan (pink) units. Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons: FEMS Microbiology Reviews [193], copyright 2014.

LAM is released by metabolically active or degrading bacterial cells [192] and it is believed to be filtered by the kidney and excreted into the urine (uLAM) of active TB patients [90]. LAM as an antigenic marker of TB was first described in the early 1990s, when it was detected in the sputum and serum of active TB patients [194, 195]. In 2001, Hamasur reported that mice injected with purified LAM excreted it into urine at ng/ml levels when detected by an ELISA method with polyclonal anti-LAM antibodies. Detectable levels of uLAM in the 50-fold concentrated urine of TB patients but not in that of healthy controls were also found. [91] When the method was evaluated with Ethiopian TB patients with positive AFB and healthy subjects, with an assay cut-off of 0.45 ng/ml, 81% sensitivity and 90% specificity was achieved. When AFB-negative samples were included in the TB group, the sensitivity decreased to 74%. [92] LAM has also been detected in the samples of serum [195, 196], cerebrospinal fluid [197], pleural effusion [198] and sputum [93]. However, urine is the most extensively studied biological sample and has been suggested as an attractive option for the point-of-care diagnostics of active TB. Urine has advantages over sputum, such as safety and ease of collection. Two commercial kits for uLAM detection are now available, Clearview[®] TB ELISA (Alere inc., MA, USA) and the lateral flow method Determine TB LAM ag (Alere inc.). Based on evaluations performed primarily in Africa and Asia, the accuracy of these tests for clinical use is, however, inadequate. In most of the studies the sensitivity of the test in HIV-noninfected patients (TB⁺HIV⁻) has been found to be lower than 22% [94]. 74% sensitivity has been reported in one study [95]. The assay sensitivity is increased in HIV-infected patients (TB⁺HIV⁺) with a decreased blood CD4⁺T cell count. Sensitivity up to 85% in patients with CD4⁺ T cell counts <50 cells/µl has been reported. [94] In most of the studies, increased sensitivity has been reported in HIV-infected compared to non-infected populations [93, 96-100]. According to the manufacturer, these tests are only recommended for use in TB patients with HIV co-infection. However, in some studies, no differences in uLAM concentrations between TB⁺HIV⁺ and TB⁺HIV⁻ patients have been found [95, 101].

The increased assay sensitivity has been explained by immunosuppression due to the loss of CD4⁺ T cells and a further increase in the bacterial burden and uLAM excretion. However, in one study, a positive correlation was found between HIV positivity, uLAM excretion, and a positive result in the Xpert MTB/RIF assay performed on urine. [99] This result raises a question about the relationship between disseminated genitourinary TB and increased uLAM assay sensitivity in HIV-infected patients. When the results of the LAM assay were compared to smear microscopy in PTB patients, concordant sensitivity, 37%, was only found in TB patients with a CD4⁺ T cell count <200 cells/µl. In TB⁺HIV⁻ and TB⁺HIV⁺ groups with CD4⁺ T cells >200 cells/µl, smear microscopy was more sensitive compared to the uLAM assay. However, smear microscopy and uLAM test identified partly different patients. [93] Increased sensitivity of the uLAM assay has been reported in patients with smear-positive PTB compared to a smear-negative disease [92, 95-97, 99, 102]. Very low sensitivity in the LAM assay was observed in patients with EPTB. [99, 102]

The concentration of uLAM has varied between studies from pg/ml levels to over 100 ng/ml. In these studies, the concentration of urine samples has not been used or no effect on assay accuracy has been found. [95, 103, 104] The kinetics of uLAM excretion is not well documented, but in one study in which 32 samples were tested, a positive uLAM result converted negative in approximately 50% of the patients between the second and eighth week of treatment. In all but one out of the 24 tested, the test was negative after 24 weeks of initial of treatment [99].

The specificity of commercial uLAM detection tests for active TB varies between 83% and 100% [90, 94, 105-107]. The cross-reactivity of antibodies used in commercial kits with other mycobacterial species or other respiratory pathogens has been investigated with artificial samples in which bacterial colonies have been inoculated in broth media [93, 95]. As expected, polyclonal antibodies recognized all tested mycobacterial species, but also some *Nocardia*. None of the tested Gram-negative bacteria or bacteria of *Staphylococcus* or *Streptococcus* families caused a cross-reaction. However, when monoclonal anti-LAM antibodies were used, no cross-reaction was observed with some pulmonary pathogens, including *Nocardia asteroids* [199]. When patients with a smear-negative pulmonary NTM infection were tested with a commercial LAM test, 12.2% showed a positive result [96]. No results have been reported regarding other disease control groups, such as patients with pneumonia or urinary tract infection.

1.6.5.2. Antigen 85

The Antigen 85 complex contains three extracellular 30- to 32-kDa secreted proteins, mycolyltransferases, that are essential for the *M. tuberculosis* cell wall biosynthesis [200]. Expression of the Antigen 85 complex is induced by the anti-TB drug isoniatsid. This mechanism has been suggested to be a response of mycobacteria to compromised cell wall integrity [201]. In some studies, the expressed Antigen 85 complex proteins have been measured in the sputum of PTB patients as a marker of treatment outcome [108, 109]. Significantly higher amounts of Antigen 85 were found in patients with persistent infection compared to those who were rapidly cured. In these studies, infection was defined as persistent when the BACTEC culture became positive at or after 90 days of anti-TB treatment within 20 days of incubation [202]. The difference was only observed in samples collected 3–7 and 14 days after treatment initiation [109]. These reports, based on a small cohort, indicate that parameters measured during the first weeks of therapy may predict the future positivity of the BACTEC culture and disease outcome.

Antigen 85 has also been found in the peripheral blood of active TB patients [110, 111]. Bentley-Hibbert measured >30 μ U/ml of Antigen 85 with a dot immunobinding assay in the sera of all 13 patients tested to have active TB, including patients with smear-negative PTB and patients with EPTB. All healthy controls, and also the groups with a positive TST, had Antigen 85 concentrations below 30 μ U/ml. [110] Later, Antigen 85 was measured in serum by ELISA and 96% sensitivity was observed when bacteriologically confirmed TB patients were tested. Analysis of the disease control group including patients with acute or chronic non-TB diseases, such as asthma or pneumonia, and a healthy control group produced 80% and 100% specificity, respectively. [111] When Antigen 85 was measured in urine, lower concentrations compared to serum and no correlation with the diagnosis was found. A chromatographic analysis of serum showed that Antigen 85 exists in a complex with fibronectin or IgG, which may explain its absence in urine. [110]

1.6.5.3. Rv1681 protein

To investigate the protein antigens excreted into the urine of PTB patients, liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry were used in one study [112]. From approximately 400 identified peptide sequences, four were found to be identical to *M. tuberculosis* proteins, and one of these, the 32 kDa, putative molybdopterin biosynthesis protein MoeX/MoeA, Rv1681, was unique to the *M. tuberculosis* complex. Importantly, the patients with renal or urinary tract abnormalities were excluded from the study, suggesting that the excreted protein did not originate from the kidney, but rather from the lungs of the PTB patients. [112] Recently, the diagnostic ability of Rv1681 was evaluated [113]. First, recombinant Rv1681 was expressed and used to produce rabbit antisera. The immunological detection of urinary Rv1681 was demonstrated by immunoaffinity purification with produced antisera. When the ELISA method with a limit of detection ranging from 20 pg/ml to 50 pg/ml was used, the protein was found in 11 of 25 tested non-concentrated urine samples from PTB patients. None of the samples from tested TST-positive healthy subjects, patients with urinary tract infection, or patients with tropical diseases, such as schistosomiasis, reacted in the test. Also, one of the 21 individuals with clinical symptoms consistent with TB, but without bacteriologic

confirmation, reacted. The researchers concluded that Rv1681 is an attractive candidate for the development of an accurate urine antigen detection method. [113]

1.6.6. Other methods

1.6.6.1. Transrenal DNA

Cell-free nucleic acids, such as those from dying human cells and microorganisms, are degraded and released into the circulation [115, 203]. The size of the cell-free nucleic acids in the plasma is smaller than 300 bp, which enables DNA fragments to pass through the kidney barrier and be excreted into the urine as transrenal DNA [204, 205]. The presence of cell-free nucleic acids has been introduced as a disease-activity and stage-differential marker in areas such as oncology, organ transplantation, and infectious diseases. The advantage of the method compared to other DNA amplifications is that the determination of the infection site is not needed. However, the accuracy of the method, and especially the sensitivity of the developed clinical applications, is limited. [115, 203]

In 1997, *M. tuberculosis* DNA was reported in the culture negative urine of an active TB patient [114]. Green reviewed seven papers in which methods for detecting transrenal DNA from the urine of TB patients were evaluated. In these studies, the sensitivity of the assays varied from 7% to 100%. There is a lack of understanding of the nature of transrenal DNA, which has caused inconsistency in the methodology and sample preparation. For example, the low copy number and high degradation of urinary DNA and the low molecular weight of the fragments complicate sample storage, DNA isolation, and primer design. Because urine is an attractive material for TB diagnostics, further studies with optimized and standardized methods are needed for the detection of transrenal DNA. [115]

1.6.6.2. Volatile organic compounds

Metabolic profiling by gas or liquid chromatography, nucleic magnetic resonance or mass spectrometry has increasingly been used in the classification and diagnostics of diseases such as cancer and diabetes. In contrast, only a few studies have shown specific metabolic profiles occurring in infectious diseases. [206] Organic compounds have been detected in the breath and urine of TB patients and have been proposed as diagnostic markers [119, 207]. An increased abundance of *o*-xylene and isopropyl acetate and reduced levels of 3-pentanol, dimethylstyrene, and cymol were observed by mass spectrometry in the urine of active TB patients [119] and later described as a point-of-care test detecting derivatives of naphthalene, benzene, and alkanes for the diagnosis of active PTB. However, inadequate accuracy with 71.2% sensitivity and 72% specificity indicates that further advances are required. [118]

1.6.6.3. Non-specific immune activation markers

Some non-specific markers of immune activation have been investigated as markers of active PTB, but also as predictors of the TB outcome or treatment response. Neopterin, a pteridine derivative of guanosine triphosphate, is produced by monocytes and macrophages upon stimulation with IFN- γ . The detection of neopterin concentrations in body fluids provides information on Th1-derived immune activation, for instance in viral and intracellular bacterial infections. [208] In TB, significantly higher serum and urine neopterin concentrations have been reported in patients with active PTB compared to healthy controls [120, 121, 209]. A significant decline in serum neopterin levels during treatment was also observed [120, 121]. In one study, an association was found between an increased serum neopterin concentration after unsuccesfull treatment and bacteriologically confirmed infection relapse [120].

Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (sICAM-1) is an adhesion molecule mainly expressed by endothelial cells. It participates in the trafficking of inflammatory cells and is up-regulated by TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-1 [210]. ICAM-1 has been shown to be necessary for the initiation of inflammatory granuloma formation [211]. Significantly higher levels of sICAM-1 have been found by ELISA in the serum of PTB patients compared to healthy subjects or TB patients who had completed 6 months of chemotherapy, and patients with pneumonia or lung cancer [122, 123, 212, 213]. sICAM-1 levels also correlated with disease severity and the disease extent, and decreased significantly during the first month of anti-TB treatment [123, 212]. However, in another study, only a modest decrease was found after 13 weeks of chemotherapy [123].

Elevated serum and plasma levels at the time of TB diagnosis and decreases during treatment were also described with the soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) [123, 124]. suPAR is involved in the adhesion and migration of monocytes and macrophages. Increased levels of suPAR in body fluids have been shown to positively correlate with the activation of the immune system [124, 125]. In TB, an association between the number of bacteria in sputum and suPAR levels in serum has been described [124]. High suPAR levels after one to four months of anti-TB treatment may predict increased mortality [124, 126].
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this study were to investigate the diagnostic potential of selected biomarkers of tuberculosis and to study the specific immune response in different stages of tuberculosis infection. The specific aims were as follows:

- To compare the immune responses to HBHA in patients with different stages of TB infection and healthy BCG-vaccinated subjects (study I)
- To improve the performance of Clearview[®] TB ELISA for the detection of LAM in the urine of TB patients without HIV co-infection (study II)
- To quantify the excreted LAM in urine samples (study II)
- To investigate the potential of CTLs producing GrB, Prf, and expressing CD107a to discriminate the TB infection stages (study III)
- To examine the phenotypic properties of functional CTLs in the different stages of TB (study III)
- To compare the IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-4 δ 2, IL-17, and FoxP3 mRNA expression levels in active TB and LTBI (study IV)

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Ethical statements

The study was approved by the ethical committees of the University Hospital of Helsinki (232/E5/07, 356/E5/07, 149/2010), the Hospital District of Southwest Finland (47/180/2009), the University Hospital of Kuopio (105/2010) and the Medical University Hospital of Taichung, Taiwan (DMR-99-IRB-075-2). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. From some of the patients with active TB, who were in isolation, a verbal consent was obtained by phone.

3.2. Study population

Clinical samples were collected between 2007 and 2013. The patients with active TB and NTM infections were from the University Hospitals of Helsinki, Turku and Kuopio, and the Medical University Hospital of Taichung. Samples from persons with LTBI and a few of the treated persons were provided in collaboration with HUSLAB and rheumatologists from Helsinki University Hospital. The persons treated for TB decades ago were recruited and interviewed by a medical student, Pekka Tapaninen. Healthy volunteers were laboratory personnel and medical students.

Whole blood, serum and/or urine samples were collected from 62 patients with active PTB, 16 patients with active EPTB, 30 persons with LTBI, 49 treated for tuberculosis, 5 infected with NTM, and 124 healthy subjects. Serum samples were used in study I and urine samples in study II. Aliquots of isolated PBMCs were stored in liquid nitrogen and used in studies I, III, and IV. The demographic and clinical data are presented in Table 2.

The diagnosis for the majority of patients with active TB was bacteriologically confirmed by *M. tuberculosis* culture and NAAT. In two pulmonary TB patients, the diagnosis was based on clinical and radiological findings, defined according to standard operation procedures, and on the response to anti-TB treatment, and in one patient on NAAT only. One patient with TB spondylitis was diagnosed with magnetic resonance imaging and a positive IGRA result. Samples were taken no later than two weeks after the initiation of anti-TB treatment. However, one patient with miliary TB had received anti-TB treatment for three months. From one patient with PTB, three urine samples were taken on days 11, 14 and 15, and again nine months after treatment initiation.

The LTBI group consisted of persons with a positive IGRA result, a known history of TB exposure, and a lack of clinical signs of active TB. One person was diagnosed with Ghon's complex in the chest X-ray. The decision of the positive IGRA test was based on the standard operation procedures adopted in each clinical laboratory. Seventeen out of the 30 subjects in the LTBI group had rheumatic diseases and 13/30 had miscellaneous inflammatory conditions. Anti-TB treated persons were divided into three groups: seven persons were treated with surgery only (Surg.), 32 had been partially treated with anti-TB treatment before the rifampicin era (Part.), and 10 had undergone the modern three-drug anti-TB therapy

(Mod.). In most of the cases, the sampling was performed decades after the completion of treatment. One of the NTM subjects had recently been diagnosed and four of them had been treated and were outpatients at the time of sampling.

Studies in which cell-mediated immunity was tested (I, III, IV) included healthy subjects who were BCG-vaccinated (Vaccinated) and IGRA negative. For study II, the BCG vaccination status or IGRA result was not defined. In addition, three samples from persons who had not received BCG vaccination (Unvaccinated) were included. Samples from healthy subjects used in study I were collected anonymously; only data on the approximate age were collected.

Patient groups	n	Age range	Female n (%)	l Serum / PBMCs	ll Urine	III PBMCs	IV PBMCs
Active TB, pulmonary (PTB)	62	18 - 86	16 (26)	3/4	45	18	22
Active TB, other organs (EPTB)	16	24 - 89	9 (57)	1/2	12	3	3
Lymphatic nodes	7	24 - 80	4 (80)	1/1	5	2	2
Bones	3	32 - 89	3 (100)	-/1	2	1	-
Abdomen	2	26 - 32	1 (50)	- / -	2	-	-
Miliary TB	2	81	0 (0)	- / -	2	-	-
Parotid gland	1	82	0 (0)	- / -	1	-	-
Intestine	1	24	1 (100)	- / -	-	-	1
LTBI	30	30 - 77	15 (50)	- / -	15	11	20
Rheumatic diseases	17	49 - 77	9 (53)	- / -	9	8	13
Miscellaneous conditions	13	30 - 69	6 (46)	- / -	6	3	7
Treated for TB	49	32 - 86	32 (65)	- / -	4	37	-
No chemotherapy (Surg.)	7	49 - 82	3 (43)	- / -	1	6	-
Partial treatment (Part.)	32	39 - 86	22 (69)	9/5	-	23	-
Modern treatment (Mod.)	10	32 - 82	7 (70)	- / -	3	8	-
NTM*	5	66 - 79	4 (80)	- / 4**	1	-	-
Healthy controls	124	n/a	n/a	7/16	101	6	8

Table 2. Demographic and clinical data and number of included samples in each study.

**M. avium* (n = 3), *M. intracellulare* (n = 1), *M. abscessus* (n = 1); **treated; n/a = not available

3.3. Sample preparation and storage

PBMCs were isolated (studies I, III, IV) from whole heparinized blood on a Ficoll Paque gradient (Amersham Biosciences AB, Uppsala, Sweden) and stored in the CryoABC Kit medium (CTL-Europe, GmbH, Bonn, Germany) in liquid nitrogen until use. Serum and urine samples were preserved at -20 °C until use.

For the ELISPOT assays (study I, III), thawed and washed PBMCs were diluted in the CTL Test Medium (CTL-Europe), and for the flow-cytometric (study III) and RT-qPCR assays (study IV), in the RPMI cell culture media (Haartbio, Helsinki, Finland/Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, USA) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Haartbio /Sigma-Aldrich). All media used were supplemented with glutamine (2 mM) and penicillin (100 μ g/mI)/streptomycin (0.1 mg/mI) (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were counted using a blood count analyzer (ADVIA-60, Bayer, Germany) (study I) or in Bürker chambers (study II, IV).

3.4. Antigens

3.4.1. Recombinant proteins

Recombinant rMS-HBHA used in study I was expressed in *M. smegmatis*, and provided by Dr Hwa-Jung Kim from Chungham National University, South Korea. The plasmid containing the full open reading frame of HBHA was obtained from Dr G. Delogu, University of Sassari, Italy [158].

Recombinant CFP-10 (rCFP-10) and ESAT-6 (rESAT-6) were used in study III. Primers encoding the sequence of *cfp-10* and *esat-6* genes were designed (study III). Purified chromosomal *M. tuberculosis* DNA was used as a template and PCR amplified genes were cloned into the pQE30 vector using the QIAexpress System (QIAGEN, GmbH, Germany). The resultant plasmids were transformed into *E. coli* M15 host cells and the transformation mixture was plated onto Luria-Bertani plates containing ampicillin and kanamycin. A single colony was cultured until growth reached the mid-log phase; optical density at 600 nm was 0.5–0.7. Isopropyl- β -thigalactoside was added and after 4 hours of incubation the cells were lysed using the QIAexpress System. The lysate was applied to nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid (QIAGEN) matrices, washed with isopropanol as described [214] and eluted with urea buffer. The molecular weight and purity of the expressed proteins were confirmed by SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and Western blotting with anti-His antibodies (Clontech Laboratories, CA, USA). The protein endotoxin level was determined by the *Limulus amebocyte* lysate assay (GenScriptinc., Piscataway, NY, USA), and was found to be below 0.1 EU/ml.

3.4.2. Synthetic peptides

ESAT-6 and CFP-10 synthetic peptides (study I, III, IV) were from the T-SPOT[®]-TB kit (Oxford Immunotec, Oxford, UK).

The genomic sequence of the *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv HBHA protein was used to design the 15-mer sequential peptides overlapping by nine amino acids (study I). A methyl residue was added to three peptides from the C-terminus of the protein and the peptides for serology were biotinylated (Proimmune, Oxford, UK; Alta Bioscience, Birmingham, UK). Controls for the ELISA method in study I were previously tested peptides [215] from the *Borrelia burgdorferi* VIsE-protein IR₆ region (Core Facility of Protein Chemistry, Haartman Institute, Helsinki, Finland).

3.4.3. Extracts

LAM used in study II was an extract from the *M. tuberculosis* Aoyama-B strain (NacalaiTesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan).

PPD used in studies I, III, and IV was obtained from Statens Serum Institute, Denmark.

3.5. Methods

3.5.1. Heparin-binding hemagglutinin ELISA (study I)

IgG- and IgM-class antibodies to rMS-HBHA, synthetic peptides, and PPD were measured by in-house ELISAs. The microtiter plates were coated with 100 μ l of rHBHA, PPD, or for biotinylated peptides with streptavidin, and were incubated overnight at +4 °C. After blocking the wells with 0.25% human serum albumin (Finnish Red Cross, Helsinki, Finland) buffer, the plates were washed. In the peptide assay, the synthetic peptides were added and the plates were incubated for two hours at RT and washed. Serum samples were diluted 1:100 in 0.5% human serum albumin-10% fetal calf serum buffer, added in duplicate into plates and incubated for two hours. Detection was performed with anti-human IgM or IgG antibodies (Jackson Immuno Research, W. Baltimore, USA) diluted 1:5000 in 0.5% human serum albumin. After two hours of incubation, 100 μ l of 4-nitrophenylphosphate (Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany) was added as a substrate. The plates were read at 405 nm with an iEMS Reader MF (Labsystems, Vantaa, Finland).

3.5.2. ELISPOT (study I, III)

T-cell reactivity was tested by an IFN- γ (study I, III), GrB and Prf (study III) ELISPOT assays. A total of 2.5 x 10⁵ PBMCs/well were stimulated in duplicate in ELISPOT plates (Mabtech, Nacka Strand, Sweden) with rMS-HBHA, HBHA peptides, PPD, and ESAT-6 and CFP-10 peptides (study I) or with PPD, or rESAT-6, rCFP-10, or ESAT-6-CFP-10 peptide pools (study III), in the CTL Test Media at +37 °C under 5% CO₂ for 48 and 22 hours, in respective studies. Cell

viability was tested by stimulating 5×10^4 cells with phytohemagglutinin. The CTL Test Medium was used as a negative control. After the stimulations, the assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Mabtech). The spots were counted with an ELISPOT reader (Biosys-GmbH, Lyngby, Germany) and the readings in media wells were subtracted for the calculation of the net values.

3.5.3. Lipoarabinomannan ELISA (study II)

Clearview[®] TB ELISA (Alere Inc., MA, USA) was used to detect uLAM in urine samples. Thawed samples were first boiled for 30 min according to the manufacturer's instructions, cooled to room temperature, and then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3000 rpm. Part of the supernatant was concentrated 100-fold with Vivapore 10/20 concentrators (Sartorius Ag, Goettingen, Germany), allowing the passage of molecules less than 7.5 kDa. Clearview[®] TB ELISA was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions for concentrated and non-concentrated samples. A calibration curve was prepared with a commercial LAM (NacalaiTesque, Inc.), starting from 20 ng/ml and ending at 0.5 ng/ml. The ODs were read at 450 nm with an iEMS Reader MF (Labsystems).

To investigate interfering factors, urine samples from pneumonia patients that tested positive (n = 7) or negative (n = 7) in the Binax NOW *S. pneumoniae* ag test (Alere Inc.) and 45 samples from patients with urinary tract infection were obtained from the Eastern Finland Laboratory Centre Joint Authority Enterprise, Mikkeli, Finland. These samples were obtained anonymously. Urinary *S. pneumoniae* ag positive and negative samples were tested as non-concentrated and 75-fold concentrated. Urinary tract infection samples were pooled according to the characterized bacterial species and tested as non-concentrated and 100-fold concentrated. In addition, the urine of a healthy person was spiked with colonies of *E. coli, E. faecalis, C. albicans* and *Corynebacterium sp* and whole inactivated *M. tuberculosis* bacteria to achieve solutions of 10 to 10^6 CFU/ml, incubated for one hour at room temperature, and processed as actual real samples.

3.5.4. Flow-cytometric analysis (study III)

IFN- γ and CD107a were determined from CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes with flow cytometric assays, and the phenotypic profile of CD8⁺CD107a⁺ T cells was assessed. PBMCs were first incubated with PPD or with media alone for 22 hours. Anti-CD107a-FITC (eBioscience, Inc., CA, USA) was added to the cells before stimulation. After two hours of incubation, Brefeldin A was added (eBioscience). The cells were surface stained with anti-CD8-Horizon-V450 (Becton Dickinson) and anti-CD4-Alexa Fluor[®] 700 (Becton Dickinson) and fixed as instructed (eBioscience). Anti-IFN- γ -PE-Cy7 (BD) was added with permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) for the intracellular staining. For the characterization of surface marker expression, the cells were stimulated as mentioned above and surface stained with anti-CD8-Horizon-V450 (Becton Dickinson), anti-CD45RA-PE-Cy7 (eBioscience), and anti-CCR7-PE (eBioscience). At least 10⁵ lymphocytes were analyzed with a FACSAria (Becton Dickinson) flow cytometer and the results were processed with the FACSDiva Version 6.1.3 software (Becton Dickinson).

3.5.5. RT-qPCR (study IV)

RT-qPCR was performed for the mRNA expression analyses of IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-4 δ 2, IL-17, FoxP3, and the validated housekeeping gene human ribosomal protein, in the stimulated PBMCs. The specific primers [42, 216-219] for the amplification of the selected genes *IFN-\gamma*, *IL-4*, *IL-4\delta2*, *IL-17*, *FoxP3*, and human ribosomal protein were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. The sizes of the amplified products were assessed once with gel electrophoresis and later with a melting curve analysis.

PBMCs were incubated with PPD, a pool of CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptides, and without antigen for 22 hours. The cells were lysed with TRI Reagent[®] (Molecular Research Center, Inc., Cincinnati, USA) and mRNA was extracted with the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Dusseldorf, Germany). Then, the AMV reverse transcriptase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, England), Oligo(dT)₂₃ primers (Sigma-Aldrich), and dNTP Mix (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) were used for the cDNA synthesis. Amplification was performed with a Power SYBR[®] Green PCR Master Mix (Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK). Analysis was conducted with the iCycleriQTM Real-time PCR detection system (Biorad, Hercules, CA) and the results were analyzed with the comparative C_t method $2^{\Delta\Delta Ct}$ [220].

3.5.6. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism (versions 4.0 and 6.0, San Diego, CA) and the MedCalc software (Ostend, Belgium).

Correlations between the tested parameters in studies I and III were analyzed by the nonparametric Spearman's rank correlation test and statistical differences between the tested groups by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison or the Mann-Whitney U-test. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

In studies I, II, and IV, sensitivities, specificities, and cut-offs of the assays were calculated using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve and area under the curve (AUC). The 95% confidence intervals were used to assess the discriminative ability of each of the tests. In study II, the statistical differences in sensitivity and specificity between the tested methods, were analyzed by the Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Ability of the immune response to HBHA to discriminate between the stages of TB (study I)

To investigate the diagnostic potential of HBHA to discriminate between the patients with active TB, subjects with treated TB and BCG-vaccinated healthy subjects, IFN- γ -producing cells were analyzed using the ELISPOT method in the groups TB, Part., Vaccinated, and NTM. In addition, IgG and IgM antibodies were measured in the groups TB, Part., Vaccinated, and Unvaccinated.

4.1.1. Cell-mediated immune response measured by ELISPOT

rMS-HBHA stimulation induced the production of IFN-γ in all the tested groups, including the persons with active TB, with a high level of inter-individual variation in the frequency of cells producing the cytokine (Table 3). The mean of the number of the spots in a negative control wells was 12. Stimulation with the HBHA peptides did not increase the frequency of IFN-γ-producing cells compared to the stimulation with media only in any of the tested groups (data not shown).

The frequency of rMS-HBHA-stimulated IFN- γ -producing cells was compared to that of cells stimulated with PPD the known T-cell stimulator of *M. tuberculosis* infected. A positive correlation was found (r = 0.469, p < 0.01) when the samples from all the tested groups were included in the analysis.

As expected, none of the Vaccinated persons responded to the *M. tuberculosis*-specific ESAT-6 and CFP-10 peptides, while a response was observed with samples from groups TB and Part. (Table 3). To investigate the ability of rMS-HBHA, PPD, CFP-10, and ESAT-6 to distinguish between the IFN-γ response primed by *M. tuberculosis* infection (TB and Part. groups) and BCG vaccination, the ROC curves were constructed for the infected (TB and Part.) and Vaccinated groups. The respective AUCs with 95% confidence intervals were 0.636 (0.391– 0.886), 0.736 (0.531–0.941), 0.947 (0.842–1.052), and 0.972 (0.917–1.027). The result indicated a good discrimination only for the CFP-10 and ESAT-6 assays. As PPD, rMS-HBHA showed inability to discriminate TB infection from the immune response induced by BCG vaccination.

Waning of the immunological response to HBHA was studied by dividing the healthy vaccinees into two groups according to age. No difference in the frequencies of IFN- γ -producing cells was found between the groups with approximate mean ages of 25 (n = 7) and 50 years (n = 8). The result reveals that the immunological memory for HBHA and PPD is persistent.

Table 3. Frequencies of antigen stimulated IFN-y-producing cells/10° lymphoc	ocytes.
--	---------

		rMS-HBHA	PPD	ESAT-6 peptides	CFP-10 peptides
Group (mean age)	n	Median (25th-75th perc.)	Median (25th-75th perc.)	Median (25th-75th perc.)	Median (25th-75th perc)
(mean age)		(25th-75th perc.)	(25th-75th perc.)	(25th-75th perc.)	(25th=75th perc.)
ТВ	6	164 (17 - 309)	550 (312 - 745)	99 (71 - 111)	267 (108 - 343)
Part.	5	21 (11 - 325)	563 (288 - 760)	115 (40 - 229)	160 (96 - 737)
Vaccinated	15	147 (85 - 340)	274 (151 - 468)	0 (0 - 27)*	14 (0 - 23)*
Vaccinated (25)	7	233 (103 - 366)	237 (120 - 459)	4 (0 - 27)**	7 (0 - 21)**
Vaccinated (50)	8	123 (67 - 338)	364 (184 - 525)	29 (0 - 39)***	14 (0 - 25)***
NTM	4	84 (36 - 263)	194 (62 - 374)	n/d	n/d

*n = 13, **n = 6, ***n = 7, n/d = not defined

Also in the semiquantitative analysis of the amount of IFN-γ produced, estimated by the size and the intensity of the spots, a high inter-individual variation was observed in all the tested groups (data not shown).

4.1.2. IgG and IgM response

Specific IgG and IgM antibodies to rMS-HBHA, HBHA synthetic peptides, and PPD were measured using an in-house ELISA. IgG-class antibodies to rMS-HBHA were detected in the groups TB, Part., and Vaccinated (Table 4). A positive correlation with the IgG response to PPD (r = 0.739, p < 0.001) was observed. The result reveals that rMS-HBHA is not usable for the discrimination between persons infected with *M. tuberculosis* and healthy vaccinees. Almost all tested persons had IgM antibodies to rMS-HBHA, including one non-vaccinated infant. IgM-class antibodies to PPD were not found in the samples of any of the tested persons (Table 4).

		rMS-HBHA	PPD				
		Median IgG	Median IgG				
Group	n	(25th - 75th perc.)	(25th - 75th perc.)				
ТВ	4	1.260 (0.346 - 1.806)	0.862 (0.286 - 1.556)				
Part.	9	0.779 (0.657 - 1.255)	0.371 (0.215 - 0.669)				
Vaccinated	4	0.473 (0.329 - 0.668)	0.197 (0.034 - 0.556)				
Unvaccinated	3	0.204 (0.130 - 0.342)	0.024 (0.021 - 0.119)				
		Median IgM	Median IgM				
Group	n	(25th - 75th perc.)	(25th - 75th perc.)				
ТВ	4	1.485 (0.799 - 2.267)	0.077 (0.023 - 0.103)				
Part.	9	0.875 (0.647 - 1.442)	0.071 (0.021 - 0.138)				
Vaccinated	4	1.481 (1.193 - 2.238)	0.032 (0.170 - 0.136)				
Unvaccinated	3	0.449 (0.287 - 1.218)	0.015 (0.040 - 0.026)				

Table 4. IgG and IgM antibodies to rMS-HBHA and PPD presented as optical densities (405 nm).

IgM-class antibodies to three methylated peptides from the C-terminus of the HBHA protein out of the 23 peptides tested were found in all tested groups. Samples from two unvaccinated infants also had IgM-class antibodies to two methylated peptides. No antibodies were found to the other tested peptides. The result may point to a non-specific recognition by heterophilic IgM-class antibodies.

4.2. Lipoarabinomannan detection for the diagnostics of active TB (study II)

4.2.1. Comparison of the modified and the original method to detect uLAM

The effect of the 100-fold concentration of urine for the detection of active TB was investigated by the Clearview[®] TB ELISA (Alere Inc.) assay. All samples were analyzed non-concentrated and 100-fold concentrated. A calibration curve from 20 ng/ml to 0.5 ng/ml was run with each test. A statistically significant (p < 0.001) difference between the healthy and the PTB groups was detected with both methods. However, a wider dynamic range and improved discriminatory power were achieved with the modified method, where the urine was 100-fold concentrated (Figure 5A). The cut-off of the modified method was assessed to a level of 1.1 ng/ml by the ROC curve analysis. For the unconcentrated sample, this is approximately equivalent to 11 pg/ml, if all uLAM is recovered from the processed sample. The AUC was calculated and was found to be 0.767, which reveals a moderate discrimination between active TB and healthy subjects.

Figure 5B presents the range of uLAM concentrations in the concentrated samples. In the PTB group, a concentration of uLAM up to 17 ng/ml was detected. In intact urine, this concentration equals to 170 pg/ml. When the assay was performed as instructed by the manufacturer, 2/28 samples from PTB patients gave a positive result, and with the modified method the respective figure was 16/28 samples. In the healthy group, 3/101 and 13/101 false positives were observed in the non-concentrated and modified forms of the test, respectively.



Figure 5. Detection of uLAM from PTB patients (n = 28) and healthy subjects (n = 101). (A) ODs of nonconcentrated and concentrated samples. (B) Concentration of uLAM in the concentrated samples with the calculated cut-off (1.1 ng/ml) presented with a dashed line. Horizontal bars represent the medians of the groups.

As shown in Table 5, sample concentration improved the assay sensitivity from 7% to 57% (p < 0.0001), but decreased the specificity from 97% to 89% (p < 0.05). When the results were compared to sputum staining, some (16/24) but not all (12/24) patients were identified by uLAM detection.

Method	Positive (n)	Negative (n)	Sensitivity %	Specificity %
uLAM (as instructed)	2	26	7	97
uLAM (concentrated urine)	16	12	57	89
Sputum AFB	24	4	86	n/a
Sputum AFB + uLAM	25	3	90	n/a
(concentrated urine)				

Table 5. Comparison of LAM detection with sputum staining.

n/a = not available

When the modified method was used in the EPTB group, uLAM concentrations in 3/7 samples reached the cut-off. However, the highest concentration was only 1.4 ng/ml, while in the sample of a patient with miliary TB, 16.6 ng/ml of uLAM was found. This sample also gave a positive result when analyzed intact. Only one LTBI patient out of 15, and none of the 4 treated patients were positive after sample concentration. Samples from PTB (n = 17) and EPTB (n = 3) patients were also collected in Taiwan, and interestingly, only 2 samples in the PTB and none in the EPTB group gave a positive result. The difference was significant (PTB, p < 0.05; PTB+EPTB, p < 0.01) when compared to the samples collected in Finland (Savolainen et al. unpublished results). The numbers of positive samples when the original and modified methods were used are presented in Table 6.

Group	n	Non-conc. n (%)	100-fold n (%)
TB pulmonary (PTB)	28	2 (7)	16 (57)
TB of other organs (EPTB)	7	0 (0)	3 (43)
TB, miliary	2	1 (50)	2 (100)
TB pulmonary, Taiwan	17	0 (0)	2 (12)
TB of other organs, Taiwan	3	0 (0)	0 (0)
LTBI	15	1 (7)	1 (7)
Treated	4	0 (0)	0 (0)
Healthy	101	3 (3)	13 (13)

 Table 6. The number of positive samples using the original and modified methods.

4.2.2. Studies on factors interfering with the specificity of the assay

In order to examine the interfering factors, urine samples from patients with other infectious diseases (groups Urinary tract infection, Urinary S. pneumoniae Ag positive and Urinary S. pneumoniae Ag negative) were studied. Altogether, 12/15 samples in the Urinary tract infection group gave a false-positive result after sample concentration and 1/15 without concentration. However, when the urine from a healthy person was spiked with E. coli, E. faecalis and C. albicans in the range of $10^4 - 10^6$ CFU/ml, no positive results were obtained. Corynebacterium sp. produced false-positive results in a dose-dependent manner when concentrated. Spiking with *M. tuberculosis* produced high ODs at low concentrations (10 CFU/ml). In the Urinary S. pneumoniae Ag positive and Urinary S. pneumoniae Ag negative groups, 2/7 and 3/7 of samples produced a false positive result when concentrated, and 0/7 and 1/7 without concentration, respectively. In a sample from a patient with a pulmonary M. avium infection, the concentration just above the cut-off, 1.2 ng/ml of uLAM, was detected in a concentrated sample. The results are provided in Table 7. In conclusion, urine concentration increased the number of the samples with a false positive result. The increase was most apparent, from 1/15 to 12/15, in the Urinary tract infection group.

Table 7. The number of positive samples in the disease controlgroups.

<u> </u>			
Group	n	Non-conc. n (%)	100-fold n (%)
<i>M. avium,</i> pulmonary	1	0 (0)	1 (100)
Urinary tract infection	15*	1 (7)	12 (80)
Urinary S. pneumoniae Ag pos.	7	0 (0)	2 (29)
Pneumonia, but urinary			
S. pneumoniae Ag neg.	7	1 (14)	3 (43)

* 45 Urinary tract infection samples pooled according to bacterial species.

4.3. Properties and function of cytotoxic T cells in different study groups (study III)

To assess the power of CTLs in differentiating the TB disease stages and to analyze their functional properties, GrB, Prf, and IFN- γ ELISPOT and CD107a and IFN- γ flow-cytometric analyses were performed for the antigen-stimulated PBMCs in groups TB, LTBI, Surg., Part., Mod and Vaccinated.

4.3.1. Production of granzyme B and perforin by antigen-stimulated cytotoxic T cells measured by ELISPOT

Stimulation with PPD, rCFP-10, rESAT-6, and CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptide pools increased the frequency of effector molecule-producing T cells in all the tested groups (Table 8). In the Vaccinated group, *M. tuberculosis*-specific antigens produced only a minor increase in the frequency of antigen-specific cells compared to PPD, as expected. Table 8 shows the proportions of GrB-, Prf-, and IFN- γ -producing cells in the tested groups when PPD or rCFP-10 was used for stimulation. The proportions of rESAT-6-stimulated cells were quite similar to those stimulated with rCFP-10 (data not shown). The frequency of Prf-producing cells was low compared to GrB- or IFN- γ -producing cells with all tested antigens. In view of the high inter-individual variation in the frequencies of GrB-, and Prf-producing cells, and the absence of significant differences between the TB and LTBI groups, no added value for the IGRA methods in differentiating the TB infection stages was observed. We also found a high spontaneous release of GrB (mean, 56 spots/well) and Prf (mean 24 spots/well), which may complicate the interpretation of results and the diagnostic use of GrB and Prf ELISPOTs.

As shown in Table 8, antigen-specific GrB-, Prf, and IFN- γ -producing cells were also found in all the treated groups, including the subjects treated with modern three-drug therapy (Mod.). Significantly higher frequencies (p < 0.05) of GrB- and IFN- γ -producing cells were found in the Mod. group than in the Surg. group. However, the mean age was lower and the period from the experienced infection was shorter in the Mod. than in the Part. group.

		PPD	PPD	PPD
Group	n	Median GrB (25th - 75th perc.)	Median Prf (25th - 75th perc.)	Median IFN-γ (25th - 75th perc.)
тв	17	115 (59 - 359)	23 (0 - 58)	250 (152 - 550)
LTBI	9	165 (118 - 439)	23 (0 - 89)	183 (68 - 557)
Surg.	6	101 (0 - 337)	16 (5 - 30)	59 (14 - 121)*
Part.	23	170 (68 - 261)	26 (0 - 73)	129 (59 - 328)
Mod.	7	385 (107 - 457)	15 (6 - 64) ^a	410 (89 - 719)* ^a
Vaccinated	6	248 (239 - 341) ^b	13 (4 - 46) ^b	220 (22 - 453)
		rCFP-10	rCFP-10	CFP-10 peptides
Group	n	Median GrB (25th - 75th perc.)	Median Prf (25th - 75th perc.)	Median IFN-γ (25th - 75th perc.)
ТВ	17	58 (0 - 395)	31 (11 -53) ^c	142 (23 - 267)
LTBI	9	210 (144 - 434)	15 (0 - 88) ^d	192 (85 - 397)
Surg.	6	0 (0 - 320)*	25 (6 - 98) ^b	24 (0 - 103)
Part.	23	55 (5 - 111)	8 (0 - 45) ^e	19 (9 - 108)
	_	211/60 610)*f	0 (0 - 0) ^g	81 (40 - 360) ^a
Mod.	/	544 (09 - 046)	0 (0 - 0)*	81 (40 - 500)

Table 8. Frequencies of GrB-, Prf-, and IFN-γ producing cells/10⁶ PBMCs in the study groups.

*p < 0.05; ^an = 5, ^bn = 4, ^cn = 13, ^dn = 7, ^en = 21, ^fn = 6, ^gn = 3

4.3.2. Flow-cytometric analysis of CD107a- and IFN-y-expressing cells

The proportions of PPD-stimulated degranulation marker CD107a- and IFN- γ -positive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations were next analyzed in different subject groups. When all tested results (TB n = 13, LTBI n = 5, Surg. n = 5, Part. n = 5, Mod. n = 5 and Vaccinated n = 5) were pooled, significantly higher frequencies of antigen-specific CD107a-expressing cells were observed in the CD8⁺T cell subset (p < 0.01) compared to the CD4⁺T cell subset, whereas IFN- γ was mostly synthesized by CD4⁺T cells (p < 0.0001) (Figure 6). The frequencies of CD107a and IFN- γ double-positive cells were low in both cell subsets (data not shown).



Figure 6. Analysis of IFN- γ **- and CD107a-expressing CD8**⁺ **and CD4**⁺ **T cells.** Unstimulated cells were subtracted from PPD-stimulated cells and the frequencies of IFN- γ - and CD107a-positive cells were calculated (n = 38). Medians of the cell frequencies are shown by horizontal bars.

As shown in Table 9, CD107a-expressing CD8⁺ T cells and IFN- γ -synthesizing CD4⁺ T cells were found in all the tested groups. No significant differences between the the groups were observed.

		CD8 ⁺ CD107a ⁺	CD4 ⁺ IFN-γ ⁺
Group	n	Median (25th - 75th perc.)	Median (25th - 75th perc.)
ТВ	13	0.12 (0 - 0.54)	0.18 (0.08 - 0.27)
LTBI	5	0.07 (0 - 0.16)	0.21 (0.05 - 0.56)
Surg.	5	0.11 (0 - 0.83)	0.06 (0.02 - 0.17)
Part.	5	0.11 (0 - 0.16)	0.15 (0.01 - 0.47)
Mod.	5	0.07 (0 - 0.29)	0.09 (0.06 - 3.48)
Vaccinated	5	0.03 (0 - 0.25)	0.11 (0.10 - 1.37)

Table 9. Frequencies of antigen-specific CD8⁺CD107a⁺ and CD4⁺IFN- γ^+ T cells in the study groups.

4.3.3. Correlation between the different markers of cytotoxicity

A significant positive correlation between GrB and Prf production was only obtained for the LTBI group (r = 0.78, p < 0.05). The frequency of CD107a-expressing CD8⁺ T cells correlated positively (r = 0.41, p < 0.05) with the GrB production, but not with the Prf production when all the tested samples from different subject groups were included in the analysis. The poor correlation between the different cytotoxicity markers might suggest that they are regulated independently or are short-lived.

4.3.4. Characterization of the surface marker expression of antigen-specific CTLs

The following classification was used to identify the differentiation stages of antigen-specific CD8⁺CD107a⁺ T cells: CD45RA⁺CCR7⁺ naive (T_N), CD45RA⁻CCR7⁺ central memory (T_{CM}), CD45RA⁻CCR7⁻ effector memory (T_{EM}), and CD45RA⁺CCR7⁻ terminally-differentiated effector memory (T_{EMRA}) cells [51].

When three samples from each group were analyzed, all cell phenotypes were recorded in all the groups. The T_{EM} phenotype was predominantly found in the CD8⁺ T cell population in the groups TB, LTBI, Surg. and Part. T_{EMRA} cells were the most frequent in the Mod. group, and T_N cells in the Vaccinated group (Table 10). Interestingly, when the percentages of CD107a⁺ cells were analyzed within each cell subpopulation, T_{CM} had the highest proportions of antigenspecific cells compared to other cell subsets in all the tested groups (Table 11). The results may reveal that also T_{CM} cells, which represent the minor cell population in periphery, have a role in a rapid recognition of *M. tuberculosis* and immunologic protection.

Table 10. Cumulative frequencies of each phenotype in the test groups when cell subsets were analyzed within the CD8⁺CD107a⁺ T cell pool.

Group	Τ _N	Тсм	T _{EM}	T _{EMRA}
тв	0.11	0.01	0.58	0.15
LTBI	0.03	0.03	0.10	0.07
Surg.	0.13	0.19	0.58	0.21
Part.	0.12	0.25	0.89	0.22
Mod.	0.08	0.05	0.16	0.24
Vaccinated	0.14	0.04	0.06	0.05

Table 11. Cumulative frequencies of each phenotype in the test groups when cell subsets were analyzed within each phenotypic subpopulation.

Group	Τ _N	Т _{см}	Тем	T _{EMRA}
ТВ	0.61	16.41	6.15	0.17
LTBI	0.71	9.32	0.66	0.11
Surg.	0.48	5.32	1.77	0.78
Part.	0.42	8.08	3.05	0.57
Mod.	0.5	3.67	0.84	0.32
Vaccinated	1.43	5.47	0.29	0.14

4.4. Ability of selected immune-related genes to discriminate active TB from LTBI (study IV)

RT-qPCR was employed to analyze the ability of the expression of selected genes, *IFN-* γ , *IL-17*, *IL-4*, *IL-4* $\delta 2$, and *FoxP3* to discriminate the infection stages of TB. The fold increase in mRNA expression was analyzed by the comparative CT method (2^{$\Delta\Delta Ct$}), in which expression levels were compared with unstimulated samples and with a housekeeping gene, human ribosomal protein.

4.4.1. mRNA expression levels of IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-4, IL-4 δ 2, and FoxP3 after antigen stimulation

First, the genes were analyzed after PPD stimulation in five samples of the groups TB, LTBI, and Vaccinated. IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-4 and FoxP3 mRNA were expressed in the TB and in the LTBI group (data not shown). The IL-4 δ 2 mRNA expression levels were low in both groups. Next, *M. tuberculosis*-specific, CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptide pool-stimulated IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-4 and FoxP3 mRNA expression levels were measured. The peptides stimulated IFN- γ and IL-4, but not IL-17 or FoxP3 mRNA expression (data not shown) in the groups TB (n = 11) and LTBI (n = 6). The respective *p*-values for peptide stimulated IFN- γ and IL-4, to discriminate between active TB and LTBI were 0.983 and 0.199. As expected, the peptide stimulations did not increase the expression of any tested genes in the Vaccinated group (n = 4).

4.4.2. IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA expression profiles for the differentiation of active TB from LTBI

PPD-stimulated IFN- γ , IL-17, and IL-4 mRNA expressions were chosen for evaluation with larger TB (n = 25), LTBI (n = 20), and Vaccinated (n = 8) groups. In this setting, statistically significant discrimination between the active TB and LTBI groups was not achieved either with a single (Table 12) or with a combination of cytokines (data not shown).

active iD all				
	TB* Median 2 ^{66Ct}	LTBI** Median 2 ^{66Ct}	Vaccinated ^{***} Median 2 ^{66Ct}	<i>p</i> -values
	(25th - 75th perc.)	(25th - 75th perc.)	(25th - 75th perc.)	
IFN-γ	22.6 (7.3 - 59.7)	12.1 (6.5 - 25.2)	11.1 (2.2 - 45.8)	0.263
IL-17	10.6 (3.3 - 30.0)	8.6 (4.6 - 15.7)	5.4 (1.4 - 13.0)	0.698
IL-4	4.6 (1.5 - 8.3)	2.1 (0.3 - 4.0)	1.7 (1.2 - 4.2)	0.064

Table 12. The median $2^{\Delta\Delta Ct}$ and the ability of each cytokine to discriminate between active TB and LTBI.

*n = 25; **n = 20; ***n = 8

5. DISCUSSION

A biomarker is an objectively defined indicator that describes the phases of normal or pathogenic processes, or pharmacological responses to a treatment intervention [221]. In the case of tuberculosis infection, this could mean host- or pathogen-specific markers for predicting the reactivation of infection or infection relapse, or to monitor response to treatment or elimination of the microbe from the body. [222] There is a particular need for markers that would enable us to assess, with just one measurement, whether the person in question has active TB, LTBI, or neither. At the moment, the greatest need globally is for rapid and affordable point-of-care tests for diagnosing active TB. One solution for this could be a non-invasive urine antigen test. [222] On the other hand, there is also a need for markers that could be used to distinguish active TB from LTBI in situations where the patient exhibits clinical symptoms compatible with active TB, possible pulmonary lesions, signs of inflammation and a positive IGRA result, but with no microbiological confirmation. Methods suited for predicting reactivation or assessing the need for preventive treatment are also lacking at the moment [67]. In cases such as these, with a low bacterial burden, potential markers could include a single host-specific markers, as well as combinations of several hostspecific markers. Markers are also needed for monitoring a response to treatment. [67] In the event of large, rapid changes in bacterial load, such as in the initial stages of treatment, pathogen-specific markers, such as LAM and transrenal DNA, could be appropriate. Computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging [223] and other imaging modalities are also needed to lend support to the exploitation pathogen- and host-specific markers in diagnosing TB.

Poor characteriztion of the patient groups studied and the likelihood of heterogeneity within groups is a weakness in the literature focusing on the search for new diagnostic biomarkers. As a rule, active TB is diagnosed based on bacteriological findings while LTBI is determined based on TST or IGRA positivity and the known history of TB exposure. It is likely that both groups, active TB and LTBI, comprise many different substages of infection, with differences such as the bacterial load, the number, type and location of granulomas, and the immunological response. In this thesis, the LTBI group comprised of persons who inflicts difficulties in terms of differential diagnosis between active TB and LTBI, i.e., persons who have some underlying disease, such as rheumatoid diseases or other miscellaneous inflammatory condition. Another feature that makes the population we have studied here unique is that we enrolled subjects who had been infected decades ago and had most likely not been exposed to tuberculosis since then, due to the low incidence of TB in Finland. The quite small groups of tested patients with heterogeneity in age and disease activity, and the use of the frozen PBMCs were the limitations of this study. The presence of patients with inflammatory diseases undergoing immunosuppressive treatment also hampered the interpretation of the results in the immunological studies.

5.1. Diagnostic uses of the HBHA antigen in the BCG-vaccinated population

Heparin-binding hemagglutinin (HBHA), is involved in the adhesion of *M. tuberculosis* bacteria to non-phagocytic cells, such as epithelial cells, thus contributing to the spread of tuberculosis outside the lungs [224]. Individuals with LTBI and those treated for TB have been shown to have a significantly higher HBHA-specific IFN-γ-response compared to patients with active TB [69-71, 160]. The HBHA antigen has therefore been considered as a potential tool for differentiating between active TB and LTBI. Even though statistically significant differences have been found between the groups, some patients with active TB have been shown to have a high IFN-γ-response to nHBHA or rMS-HBHA [71, 160]. In this thesis (study I), in addition to persons who had previously undergone treatment, some of the patients with active TB were also found to have rMS-HBHA-specific IFN-γ-producing cells in their peripheral circulation. It thus seems unlikely that the HBHA-specific IFN-γ production alone could permit sufficient differentiation between the active TB and LTBI for diagnostic purposes.

It has previously been shown that healthy BCG-vaccinated and unvaccinated persons do not exhibit IFN-y response to nHBHA [69-71]. However, a recent study showed that BCG vaccine elicited an extensive cytokine response, including IFN-y to nHBHA in PBMCs [225]. The same study also demonstrated that vaccinated adults had an IFN-y response to nHBHA and that it does not wane over time [225]. In this thesis, rMS-HBHA-specific IFN-y-producing cells were found in the peripheral circulation of healthy BCG-vaccinated persons as well (study I). In addition, the number of rMS-HBHA-specific cells was found to have a positive correlation (r = 0.469, p < 0.01) with the number of PPD-specific cells. It thus appears that, similarly to PPD, the stimulation of PBMCs with rMS-HBHA does not distinguish the response elicited by the vaccine from that prompted by infection. One reason for the differences between the findings here and those reported previously may be that the vaccine strains used differ in their immune properties. The response to the vaccine may also be influenced by differences in vaccination schedules and vaccine manufacturing processeses. [61] The results of this thesis suggest that the possibilities of using HBHA as an antigen for distinguishing between the persons infected with *M. tuberculosis* and the healthy ones with BCG vaccination are limited in countries with a widespread vaccination programme.

There are few studies looking at the possibilities of using HBHA to monitor the TB treatment efficacy or TB reactivation. However, Masungi et al. have shown that the HBHA-specific IFN- γ response is increased significantly in patients with active TB during the first four weeks of treatment [70]. In a recently published study, changes in IFN- γ response to HBHA and ESAT-6 in persons with LTBI were followed up to 10 years [226]. The investigators summarised their findings as follows: a continuous, proportionally higher IFN- γ response to nHBHA, as compared to ESAT-6, might indicate a response that protects against active TB. In addition, a link between a continuously changing HBHA-ESAT-6 ratio, re-exposure to the pathogen, and reactivation of the disease has been described. [226] It is therefore possible that the nHBHA antigen could be utilised in the diagnosis of disease reactivation or monitoring of cure. Further studies on the subject are needed, however.

There are controversies between different studies concerning the disease stagediscriminating ability of HBHA. One reason for this may be the fact that posttranslationally modified, complex C-terminal methylation has been shown to be significant for T cell recognition and the generation of the IFN-y response [69]. Even though the methylated structures of HBHA isolated from the *M. bovis* BCG strain and produced in the *M. smegmatis* strain as a recombinant protein have been shown to be nearly identical, it is possible that there are differences in protein folding, and therefore also in immunological recognition. The fact that the IFN- γ response was measured in this study (study I) as frequencies of reactive cells while most results presented in the literature were based on the quantitative measurement of excreted IFN- γ may also partly contribute to the difference.

5.2. Lipoarabinomannan as a diagnostic marker for tuberculosis

Properties, such as non-invasiveness, robustness and inexpensiveness of urine antigen detection, and the moderate sensitivity and specificity of some tests currently in use, such as BinaxNOW[®] Legionella pneumoniae (Alere inc.) and BinaxNOW[®] Streptococcus pneumoniae (Alere inc.), are the basis for considering the use of antigen tests in the TB diagnostics as well. LAM, a heat-stabile glycolipid, forming part of the cell wall of *M. tuberculosis*, is excreted into urine and considered a potential candidate for the development of an antigen test. [227]

The sensitivity of the existing urine LAM tests, Clearview[®] TB ELISA (Alere inc.) and Determine TB (Alere inc.), has been reported to vary between 13% and 93% and the specificity between 87% and 99% [90, 94, 105]. In addition, higher clinical sensitivities reported are almost without an exception linked to the co-infection of HIV and TB and to a decreased frequency of CD4⁺ T cells caused by HIV and the expected higher bacteria load in the body [93, 96-100]. In the second study of this thesis, the presence of LAM was demonstrated with the Clearview[®] TB ELISA in the 100-fold concentrated and unconcentrated urine samples from TB⁺HIV⁻ patients and healthy controls. Concentrating the urine increased the sensitivity of the method from 7% to 57% (p < 0.0001) while the specificity decreased from 97% to 89% (p < 0.05). Based on the results, it can be noted that concentrating the urine is necessary to obtain even moderate sensitivity in TB⁺HIV⁻ patients.

Besides the patients with HIV infection, higher sensitivity values with uLAM assays have also been linked to TB patients with a more severe disease [102]. Furthermore, uLAM tests showed higher sensitivity in PTB patients with a positive sputum smear compared to PTB patients with a negative smear [92, 95-97, 99, 102]. High uLAM levels were found in a sample of a patient with miliary TB in the present study as well (study II). The concentrated urine sample of one out of the four PTB patients with a negative sputum smear was positive for uLAM (Table 5). Therefore, the uLAM test and sputum smear could be used as complementary methods. In line with earlier findings [99], lower uLAM levels were found in patients with EPTB compared to those with PTB (Table 6). Furthermore, in LTBI group, uLAM level above the limit of detection were found only in one sample (7%) (Table 6). Based on the earlier and our findings, it seems that when the bacterial load in the body increases, the amount of uLAM and *M. tuberculosis* DNA determined with the Xpert MTB/RIF method [99] raises a question whether the positive uLAM is a result of genitourinary TB infection or uLAM excreted via kidneys.

The results of this study show that in TB⁺HIV⁻ patients uLAM is excreted at pg/ml levels. Previous studies, most of which have included HIV⁺ patients, have reported varying levels,

even up to hundreds of nanograms per millilitre [92, 95, 103, 104]. It is likely that the generally observed poor sensitivity of LAM tests is at least partly associated with the poor test performance. However, other factors, such as those related to immunological mechanisms cannot be excluded. For example, it has been speculated that if LAM is bound to the anti-LAM antibodies, the high molecular weight of the formed immune complexes cannot pass through the glomerular membrane and therefore LAM is not excreted into the urine. [99]. The speculation was supported by the results indicating that the sera of TB patients contain anti-LAM antibodies [228]. In addition, increased levels of immune complexes consisting of *M. tuberculosis* glycolipid antigens and antibodies have been detected in the circulation of TB patients [229].

In this study, the number of false positives was shown to be high in patients with urinary tract infection. In accordance with earlier studies [93, 95], common bacteria that cause urinary tract infections, such as *E. coli*, were not observed to react in the test when using a spiked sample. This allows speculation as to whether the lack of specificity might be associated with the inflammatory process itself. This hypothesis requires further research, however. The polyclonal antibodies used in the method were shown to recognise the bacteria in the family of *Corynebacterium*, which may be occasionally present as a part of the microbiota on mucous membranes. This may partly explain the false positive findings in healthy subjects. When developing potential new methods in the future, it is likely that the specificity of the method can be improved considerably by using monoclonal antibodies.

5.3. T cell memory

Functional CTLs are important for the protection against active TB. For example, higher numbers of CTLs producing GrB and Prf have been detected in persons with LTBI and those vaccinated with BCG compared to patients with active TB [53, 54]. It has been observed that the lytic activity of CTLs is decreased in patients with active TB [55]. On the other hand, it has also been suggested that the decreased frequencies of CTLs in the peripheral circulation is partly due to the cell compartmentalisation to inflamed tissues [56]. The third study in this thesis looked at the possibility of utilising antigen-specific functional GrB-, Prf-, or CD107asynthesizing CTLs to differentiate between the stages of TB infection. However, we observed that both the patients with active TB and the persons with LTBI have in their peripheral circulation cell types with similar surface marker expression profiles and functional properties. These include the frequencies of the antigen-specific GrB and Prf-producing PBMCs (Table 8) and CD107a-degranulatioin factor-expressing T_N, T_{CM}, T_{EM} and T_{EMRA} cell subsets (Table 10). In addition, in line with previously published studies [181, 230], we observed that the production and release of cytolytic molecules is a dynamic process that is difficult to demonstrate repeatedly. In light of these results, a diagnostic approach based on the enumeration of GrB-, Prf-, or CD107a-producing CTLs does not appear promising.

Our results indicate that persons whose active TB was treated decades ago have functional CTLs in their peripheral blood in frequencies similar to those of subjects with active disease (Table 8). Furthermore, the CTLs of these persons were shown to represent mostly the short-lived effector-memory cells, T_{EM} and T_{EMRA} (Table 10). Using the same clinical material it was previously shown that IFN- γ -producing CD4⁺ T cells also had the T_{EM} phenotype [231]. What

maintains the short-lived T_{EM} cell population in the periphery of treated patients remains unclear. Therefore, there is a possibility that even the modern anti-tuberculosis treatment does not eradicate the bacteria, which then could lead to the continuous stimulation and proliferation of antigen-specific T cell populations. On the other hand, the possibility of unspecific stimulation caused by other microbes with similar structures to those of *M*. *tuberculosis* cannot be excluded, either. It does, however, seem clear that once formed, the T cell memory that recognises *M*. *tuberculosis* antigens is sustained throughout life, albeit with some variation between individuals. This makes the differential T cell-based immunological diagnosis of stages of the TB infection difficult. In light of these findings, the suggestion put forth in the literature, to exploit the attenuation of IFN- γ response for the detection of treatment efficiency, is questionable. Even if the reversion of the IGRA result from positive to negative could be observed, the correlation with a stage of the disease is at present very unclear [152].

One third of the global population is infected with *M. tuberculosis* when the positive tuberculin skin test result is used as a criterion. However, the majority of the infected do not develop active TB during their lifetime. Nevertheless, the risk of reactivation is increased by a compromised immune defence, for example, when TNF- α blockers are used to treat various inflammatory disorders, or when CD4⁺T cell levels are reduced, e.g. due to the HIV infection. It was recently shown, in a review comprising 18 prospective cohort studies with 19,886 subjects, that the persons with LTBI diagnosed by TST, have a 79-percent lower risk of developing active tuberculosis as a result of being re-exposed to *M. tuberculosis*, as compared to healthy TST-negative persons [232]. This finding has caused speculation as to whether having LTBI or post-treatment "immunological scar" might have a protective effect against clinical disease.

The so-called "hygiene hypothesis" has been put forward to explain the growing rate of allergic conditions in the Western populations. This theory explains why the immune system needs to be primed in infants to shift their immune response from the predominance of the Th2 to the Th1 arm, which is required e.g. for the differentiation of Tregs. The factors responsible for this priming are not yet fully understood. However, the contact with bacteria belonging to the Enterobacteriacae family seems important. [233, 234] Early contact with mycobacterial antigens, even as LTBI or after vaccination, may be beneficial too. Thus, for example, a significant decrease in the prevalence of recent allergic rhinitis in the TST-positive children compared to the TST-negative ones was reported [235]. On the other hand, the systematic review of the literature showed a high variation in the results between studies, in which the correlation between *M. tuberculosis* infection or BCG vaccination and atopic diseases in children have been studied [236]. That is explained, e.g., by the variation in the BCG vaccination schemes, vaccine strain differences, differences in exposure to environmental mycobacteria and the lack of uniformity in the definition of atopy [236]. The benefits of latent infections to confer protection against more detrimental infections were also described in animal models. It has been recently shown in mice that the IFN-y-mediated macrophage activation maintained by latent Epstein-Barr virus or cytomegalovirus infections has a protective role against some bacterial infections [237].

5.4. IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA expression in the differential diagnosis of M. tuberculosis infection stages

It is possible that high-throughput array techniques are needed in order to find markers that distinguish the stages of TB infection [190]. Therefore, the development of robust diagnostic methods for the diagnostics of active TB calls for multiplex method formats, in which multiple markers can be detected cost-effectively in a single reaction [186].

The calculation of the combined expression, of IFN- γ , IL-17 and IL-4 mRNAs is justified on the basis of the following: *a*) when the immune response is evolved after the contact with the pathogen, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes differentiate into distinct major lineages, Th1, Th17 or Th2, each expressing IFN- γ , IL-17 or IL-4, respectively; *b*) because the different cell lineages, Th1, Th17 and Th2, co-operate or interfere with each other during the inflammatory process, the dominant subset may differ. [38] Therefore, the combined analysis of cytokines produced by these cell subsets takes into account any shifts that might occur.

In this thesis, no statistically significant differences in IFN-γ, IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA expressions were found in patients with active TB and LTBI. However, a trend towards discrimination was shown. The method may prove useful if repeated on a larger sample size when more meticulously selected LTBI patients with a homogenous clinical background are enrolled

We observed that, compared to CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptides (p = 0.983), PPD (p = 0.263) stimulation had a higher capacity to discriminate the active TB group from the LTBI group when IFN- γ was measured. As reported, PPD stimulation has resulted in the higher IFN- γ and IL-17 cytokine production compared to the stimulation with CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptides [185, 238]. By definition, patients with active TB have a higher bacterial load, stronger inflammatory reaction and quantitative and qualitative differences in reactive T-cell pools compared to LTBI. Therefore, recognition by the CD4⁺T cells of TB patients of a higher variety of protein components of the PPD rather than CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptides alone offers a distinct diagnostic advantage.

Earlier, significantly higher FoxP3 mRNA levels have been demonstrated in antigenstimulated PBMCs of patients with active TB than in subjects with LTBI [184]. In this thesis study, no difference in FoxP3 mRNA levels was observed between these groups. FoxP3 mRNA is expressed low levels [184], and its expression might peak earlier than at 22 h, the time point used in this study. Consistently with earlier findings [89], antigen stimulation did not induce the expression of IL-4 δ 2 mRNA in this study.

Importantly, in other studies reporting the high discriminative ability of a variety of gene expression profiles, the LTBI group has consisted of healthy subjects, mainly household contacts [184, 189]. By contrast, our LTBI cohort consisted of patients with underlying diseases, such as rheumatic diseases or other inflammatory disorders. Similarly to active TB, these patients have disease manifestations compatible with active TB. Our LTBI patient group had dysbalanced cytokine production, and in the real clinical situation this LTBI cohort is therefore a challenge. To our knowledge, such an approach of enrolling an LTBI group with clear disease manifestations has not previously been attempted.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

The urine LAM tests that are currently in use are not suitable as point-of-care test for the diagnostics of active TB in TB⁺HIV⁺ or TB⁺HIV⁻ patients. In this study, the sensitivity of the Clearview[®] TB ELISA method could be significantly improved by concentrating urine 100-fold. However, because only moderate sensitivity (57%) and specificity (89%) was achieved, the method is still inadequate for the diagnostic use. Compared to protein antigens, the glycolipid could be a preferred antigen for TB diagnostics, for example, due to its heat stability. This is an important aspect, because the infectivity of a urine can be reduced by heating. Furthermore, a urine sample of patients without genitourinary TB infection is presumably much less infectious than a sputum sample. It is obvious that many issues, such as those related to kinetics of the antigen excretion in active TB, call for further studies. In addition, in order to improve the specificity of the method, it is very likely that, in the future, the use of monoclonal antibodies and careful analysis of preanalytic factors will be necessary.

The most fascinating results of the current thesis include the finding that the memory of CTLs, generated by a previously treated active TB, is sustained for several decades, despite adequate treatment with bactericidal rifampicin. It is possible that long-lived T-cell memory may provide some protection against re-infection with mycobacteria, or even against other detrimental infections. As shown in this thesis, because of T-cell memory, assays based on host-related biomarkers are less useful for measuring treatment efficiency.

Based on the results, the ability of PPD-stimulated IFN- γ , IL-17 and IL-4 mRNA expression in PBMCs to discriminate the disease stage was not sufficient for diagnostic use. However, larger sample cohorts should be tested. Furthermore, the LTBI group should be more homogeneous in terms of clinical manifestations, the duration of the clinical course, and the duration and assortment of anti-rheumatic drugs, because each of these factors affects the basal level of cytokine production. It could be possible that by using a combination of several biomarkers, active TB could be distinguished from LTBI immunologically. New immunodiagnostic tests could provide a possibility for detecting the reactivation of TB infection, thus leading to earlier preventive treatment than by using microbiological or molecular methods. The search for new immunological markers should therefore continue. In our opinion, however, the search for biomarkers of tuberculosis infection should be more focused on pathogen-related than on host-related markers, because these offer a higher degree of specificity.

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki. I am thankful to the Head of the Department, Professor Seppo Meri, for providing excellent research facilities. I acknowledge the financial support of the Tuberculosis Association of the University of Tampere, the Nummela Sanatorium Association, the Foundation of the Finnish Anti-Tuberculosis Association, the Research Foundation of Pulmonary Diseases, the Academy of Finland, the Väinö and Laina Kivi Foundation, the Orion Research Foundation, the Maud Kuistila Memorial Foundation, and the Finnish Society for the Study of Infectious Diseases.

I am thankful and honoured that Professor Jukka Pelkonen accepted the invitation to be my opponent. I am grateful to the reviewers of my thesis, Professor Jorma Ilonen and Docent Tuomas Virtanen, for their valuable and constructive comments, which greatly improved the text.

I am most indebted to my supervisor, Docent Tamara Tuuminen, for guiding me, and introducing me to the world of science. Her optimistic and enthusiastic attitude has been the force I have needed during this process. I want to thank Tamara for all her encouragement and support.

I sincerely want to thank Docent Anu Kantele for collaboration, but also for guidance and support with many scientific and practical questions during these years. I warmly acknowledge my other collaborators, Dr Heikki Valleala, Docent Tuula Vasankari, Docent Aija Knuuttila, Docent Riitta Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen, Dr Liana Pusa, Dr Riitta Tuompo, Professor Cheng-Lung Ku, and Dr Chih Y Chi for co-authority and help in recruiting the clinical patients. I thank Professor Martti Vaara, the Head of the Division of Clinical Microbiology at HUSLAB, for providing the facilities for patient recruitment. I warmly thank Docent Jussi Eskola and other personnel in the Department of Mycobacteriology at HUSLAB for their kind help in the patient recruitment process. I am thankful to Docents Riitta Karttunen, Aaro Miettinen, and Ilkka Seppälä for providing clinical samples and permission to use ELISPOT reader at the Department of Virology and Immunology in HUSLAB. I want to acknowledge Professor Benita Westerlund-Wikström for providing expert facilities for the production of recombinant proteins in the Division of General Microbiology at the University of Helsinki.

I thank past members of Tamara Tuuminen's research group, namely Heidi Sillanpää, Pekka Koskivirta, Anu Korhonen, Bettina Sandboge, Marita Siren, and Sveta Moiseev, for collaboration. I especially want to thank Heidi for her guidance in the laboratory during my first study. I warmly thank Riitta Väisänen for assistance in using the ELISPOT reader, and Pirkko Kokkonen for kind help in the laboratory. I also want to thank Docent Nina Peitsaro and Tamàs Bazsinska for their technical support. I am thankful to Derek Ho and Roy Siddall for language revision of this thesis, and Arja Kantele for language revision of the original articles and abstract in Finnish. Kirsti Widing, Marjatta Ahonen, Kirsi Udueze, Outi Paltola, Päivi Loizos, Päivi Sinisalo, Marko Hietavuo, and Ilkka Vanhatalo are thanked for their support with many practical and technical questions.

I am grateful for having such coworkers as Sari Pakkanen and Elina Erra. I thank you for the friendship and all your help and support during these years. I want to thank other former and

present coworkers at the Haartman Institute for providing a great working atmosphere and for help in many issues. I especially thank Kirsi Vaali, Krista Kuuliala, Taru Meri, Natalie Friberg, Karita Haapasalo-Tuomainen, Hanne Amdahl, Aino Koskinen, Pirkka Pekkarinen, Anni Tuulasvaara, Sini Laakso, Satu Hyvärinen, Arnab Bhattacharjee, Docents Hanna Jarva, Petteri Arstila, and Sakari Jokiranta, and Professor Mikael Skurnik. I also want to thank my coworkers at the Department of Bacteriology, HUSLAB, for their nice company during the present year.

I am grateful to my friends for nice moments and encouragement, and to my parents and relatives for all their support. I deeply thank Erkki for his love, support, and bringing balance to my life during these years.

Helsinki, November 2014

Laura Savolainen

References

[1] Cambau E, Drancourt M. Steps towards the discovery of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by Robert Koch, 1882. Clin Microbiol Infect 2014; 20: 196-201.

[2] Rothschild BM, Martin LD, Lev G, Bercovier H, Bar-Gal GK, Greenblatt C, Donoghue H, Spigelman M, Brittain D. Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex DNA from an extinct bison dated 17,000 years before the present. Clin Infect Dis 2001; 33: 305-311.

[3] Hershkovitz I, Donoghue HD, Minnikin DE, Besra GS, Lee OY, Gernaey AM, Galili E, Eshed V, Greenblatt CL, Lemma E, Bar-Gal GK, Spigelman M. Detection and molecular characterization of 9,000-year-old Mycobacterium tuberculosis from a Neolithic settlement in the Eastern Mediterranean. PLoS One 2008; 3: e3426.

[4] Sakula A. Robert Koch: centenary of the discovery of the tubercle bacillus, 1882. Thorax 1982; 37: 246-251.

[5] World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2013.
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/91355/1/9789241564656_eng.pdf.
(Available at 22 October 2014)

[6] Tala-Heikkilä M. Tuberkuloosi Suomessa. Katsaus, Duodecim. 2003; 119: 1621-8.

[7] Pfyffer GE. Mycobacterium: General Characteristics, Laboratory Detection, and Staining Procedures. 2007; 1: 543.

[8] Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J, Garnier T, Churcher C, Harris D, Gordon SV, Eiglmeier K, Gas S, Barry CE, 3rd, Tekaia F, Badcock K, Basham D, Brown D, Chillingworth T, Connor R, Davies R, Devlin K, Feltwell T, Gentles S, Hamlin N, Holroyd S, Hornsby T, Jagels K, Krogh A, McLean J, Moule S, Murphy L, Oliver K, Osborne J, Quail MA, Rajandream MA, Rogers J, Rutter S, Seeger K, Skelton J, Squares R, Squares S, Sulston JE, Taylor K, Whitehead S, Barrell BG. Deciphering the biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from the complete genome sequence. Nature 1998; 393: 537-544.

[9] Lawn SD, Zumla AI. Tuberculosis. Lancet 2011; 378: 57-72.

[10] Forrellad MA, Klepp LI, Gioffre A, Sabio y Garcia J, Morbidoni HR, de la Paz Santangelo M, Cataldi AA, Bigi F. Virulence factors of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. Virulence 2013; 4: 3-66.

[11] Brennan PJ. Structure, function, and biogenesis of the cell wall of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2003; 83: 91-97.

[12] Chatterjee D, Khoo KH. Mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan: an extraordinary lipoheteroglycan with profound physiological effects. Glycobiology 1998; 8: 113-120.

[13] Young DB, Gideon HP, Wilkinson RJ. Eliminating latent tuberculosis. Trends Microbiol 2009; 17: 183-188.

[14] Tufariello JM, Chan J, Flynn JL. Latent tuberculosis: mechanisms of host and bacillus that contribute to persistent infection. Lancet Infect Dis 2003; 3: 578-590.

[15] Flynn JL, Chan J, Lin PL. Macrophages and control of granulomatous inflammation in tuberculosis. Mucosal Immunol 2011; 4: 271-278.

[16] Schafer G, Jacobs M, Wilkinson RJ, Brown GD. Non-opsonic recognition of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by phagocytes. J Innate Immun 2009; 1: 231-243.

[17] Torrado E, Cooper AM. IL-17 and Th17 cells in tuberculosis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2010; 21: 455-462.

[18] Ramakrishnan L. Revisiting the role of the granuloma in tuberculosis. Nat Rev Immunol 2012; 12: 352-366.

[19] Philips JA, Ernst JD. Tuberculosis pathogenesis and immunity. Annu Rev Pathol 2012; 7: 353-384.

[20] Lowe DM, Redford PS, Wilkinson RJ, O'Garra A, Martineau AR. Neutrophils in tuberculosis: friend or foe? Trends Immunol 2012; 33: 14-25.

[21] Flynn JL, Chan J. Immunology of tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 2001; 19: 93-129.

[22] Sieling PA, Ochoa MT, Jullien D, Leslie DS, Sabet S, Rosat JP, Burdick AE, Rea TH, Brenner MB, Porcelli SA, Modlin RL. Evidence for human CD4+ T cells in the CD1-restricted repertoire: derivation of mycobacteria-reactive T cells from leprosy lesions. J Immunol 2000; 164: 4790-4796.

[23] Ernst JD. The immunological life cycle of tuberculosis. Nat Rev Immunol 2012; 12: 581-591.

[24] Davis JM, Ramakrishnan L. The role of the granuloma in expansion and dissemination of early tuberculous infection. Cell 2009; 136: 37-49.

[25] Gideon HP, Flynn JL. Latent tuberculosis: what the host "sees"? Immunol Res 2011; 50: 202-212.

[26] Capuano SV,3rd, Croix DA, Pawar S, Zinovik A, Myers A, Lin PL, Bissel S, Fuhrman C, Klein E, Flynn JL. Experimental Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection of cynomolgus macaques closely resembles the various manifestations of human *M. tuberculosis* infection. Infect Immun 2003; 71: 5831-5844.

[27] Lin PL, Rodgers M, Smith L, Bigbee M, Myers A, Bigbee C, Chiosea I, Capuano SV, Fuhrman C, Klein E, Flynn JL. Quantitative comparison of active and latent tuberculosis in the cynomolgus macaque model. Infect Immun 2009. 77; 4631-4642.

[28] Lin PL, Ford CB, Coleman MT, Myers AJ, Gawande R, Ioerger T, Sacchettini J, Fortune SM, Flynn JL. Sterilization of granulomas is common in active and latent tuberculosis despite within-host variability in bacterial killing. Nat Med 2014; 20: 75-79.

[29] Barry CE 3rd, Boshoff HI, Dartois V, Dick T, Ehrt S, Flynn J, Schnappinger D, Wilkinson RJ, Young D. The spectrum of latent tuberculosis: rethinking the biology and intervention strategies. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009; 7: 845-855.

[30] Yang Z, Rosenthal M, Rosenberg NA, Talarico S, Zhang L, Marrs C, Thomsen VO, Lillebaek T, Andersen AB. How dormant is *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* during latency? A study integrating genomics and molecular epidemiology. Infect Genet Evol 2011; 11: 1164-1167.

[31] Lazarevic V, Glimcher LH. T-bet in disease. Nat Immunol 2011; 12: 597-606.

[32] Wilkinson KA, Wilkinson RJ. Polyfunctional T cells in human tuberculosis. Eur J Immunol 2010; 40: 2139-2142.

[33] Harari A, Rozot V, Enders FB, Perreau M, Stalder JM, Nicod LP, Cavassini M, Calandra T, Blanchet CL, Jaton K, Faouzi M, Day CL, Hanekom WA, Bart PA, Pantaleo G. Dominant TNF-alpha+ *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific CD4+ T cell responses discriminate between latent infection and active disease. Nat Med 2011; 17: 372-376.

[34] Rozot V, Vigano S, Mazza-Stalder J, Idrizi E, Day CL, Perreau M, Lazor-Blanchet C, Petruccioli E, Hanekom W, Goletti D, Bart PA, Nicod L, Pantaleo G, Harari A. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific CD8+ T cells are functionally and phenotypically different between latent infection and active disease. Eur J Immunol 2013; 43: 1568-1577.

[35] Young JM, Adetifa IM, Ota MO, Sutherland JS. Expanded polyfunctional T cell response to mycobacterial antigens in TB disease and contraction post-treatment. PLoS One 2010; 5: e11237.

[36] Caccamo N, Guggino G, Joosten SA, Gelsomino G, Di Carlo P, Titone L, Galati D, Bocchino M, Matarese A, Salerno A, Sanduzzi A, Franken WP, Ottenhoff TH, Dieli F. Multifunctional CD4(+) T cells correlate with active *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Eur J Immunol 2010; 40: 2211-2220.

[37] Abebe F, Bjune G. The protective role of antibody responses during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Clin Exp Immunol 2009; 157: 235-243.

[38] Ottenhoff TH. New pathways of protective and pathological host defense to mycobacteria. Trends Microbiol 2012; 20: 419-428.

[39] Rook GA, Hernandez-Pando R, Dheda K, Teng Seah G. IL-4 in tuberculosis: implications for vaccine design. Trends Immunol 2004; 25: 483-488.

[40] Hernandez-Pando R, Aguilar D, Hernandez ML, Orozco H, Rook G. Pulmonary tuberculosis in BALB/c mice with non-functional IL-4 genes: changes in the inflammatory effects of TNF-alpha and in the regulation of fibrosis. Eur J Immunol 2004; 34: 174-183.

[41] Wassie L, Demissie A, Aseffa A, Abebe M, Yamuah L, Tilahun H, Petros B, Rook G, Zumla A, Andersen P, Doherty TM, VACSEL Study Group. Ex vivo cytokine mRNA levels correlate with changing clinical status of ethiopian TB patients and their contacts over time. PLoS One 2008; 3: e1522.

[42] Demissie A, Abebe M, Aseffa A, Rook G, Fletcher H, Zumla A, Weldingh K, Brock I, Andersen P, Doherty TM, VACSEL Study Group. Healthy individuals that control a latent infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* express high levels of Th1 cytokines and the IL-4 antagonist IL-4delta2. J Immunol 2004; 172: 6938-6943.

[43] Fletcher HA, Owiafe P, Jeffries D, Hill P, Rook GA, Zumla A, Doherty TM, Brookes RH, Vacsel Study Group. Increased expression of mRNA encoding interleukin (IL)-4 and its splice variant IL-4delta2 in cells from contacts of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, in the absence of in vitro stimulation. Immunology 2004; 112: 669-673.

[44] Larson RP, Shafiani S, Urdahl KB. Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in tuberculosis. Adv Exp Med Biol 2013; 783: 165-180.

[45] Belkaid Y. Role of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells during infection; Eur J Immunol 2008. 38: 918-921.

[46] Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-17 and Th17 Cells; Annu Rev Immunol 2009. 27: 485-517.

[47] Khader SA, Bell GK, Pearl JE, Fountain JJ, Rangel-Moreno J, Cilley GE, Shen F, Eaton SM, Gaffen SL, Swain SL, Locksley RM, Haynes L, Randall TD, Cooper AM. IL-23 and IL-17 in the establishment of protective pulmonary CD4+ T cell responses after vaccination and during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* challenge. Nat Immunol 2007; 8: 369-377.

[48] Zhao P, Xiao X, Ghobrial RM, Li XC. IL-9 and Th9 cells: progress and challenges. Int Immunol 2013; 25: 547-551.

[49] Ye ZJ, Yuan ML, Zhou Q, Du RH, Yang WB, Xiong XZ, Zhang JC, Wu C, Qin SM, Shi HZ. Differentiation and recruitment of Th9 cells stimulated by pleural mesothelial cells in human *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. PLoS One 2012; 7: e31710.

[50] Tong ZH, Shi HZ. Subpopulations of helper T lymphocytes in tuberculous pleurisy. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2013; 93: 279-284.

[51] Caccamo N, Guggino G, Meraviglia S, Gelsomino G, Di Carlo P, Titone L, Bocchino M, Galati D, Matarese A, Nouta J, Klein MR, Salerno A, Sanduzzi A, Dieli F, Ottenhoff TH. Analysis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific CD8 T-cells in patients with active tuberculosis and in individuals with latent infection. PLoS One 2009; 4: e5528.

[52] Lieberman J. The ABCs of granule-mediated cytotoxicity: new weapons in the arsenal. Nat Rev Immunol 2003; 3: 361-370.

[53] Smith SM, Klein MR, Malin AS, Sillah J, Huygen K, Andersen P, McAdam KP, Dockrell HM. Human CD8(+) T cells specific for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* secreted antigens in tuberculosis patients and healthy BCG-vaccinated controls in The Gambia. Infect Immun 2000; 68: 7144-7148.

[54] Madhan Kumar M, Raja A. Cytotoxicity responses to selected ESAT-6 and CFP-10 peptides in tuberculosis. Cell Immunol 2010; 265: 146-155.

[55] De La Barrera SS, Finiasz M, Frias A, Aleman M, Barrionuevo P, Fink S, Franco MC, Abbate E, del C Sasiain M. Specific lytic activity against mycobacterial antigens is inversely correlated with the severity of tuberculosis. Clin Exp Immunol 2003; 132: 450-461.

[56] Caccamo N, Meraviglia S, La Mendola C, Guggino G, Dieli F, Salerno A. Phenotypical and functional analysis of memory and effector human CD8 T cells specific for mycobacterial antigens. J Immunol 2006; 177: 1780-1785.

[57] Maglione PJ, Xu J, Chan J. B cells moderate inflammatory progression and enhance bacterial containment upon pulmonary challenge with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Immunol 2007; 178: 7222-7234.

[58] Achkar JM, Casadevall A. Antibody-mediated immunity against tuberculosis: implications for vaccine development. Cell Host Microbe 2013; 13: 250-262.

[59] Maglione PJ, Xu J, Casadevall A, Chan J. Fc gamma receptors regulate immune activation and susceptibility during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Immunol 2008; 180: 3329-3338.

[60] de Valliere S, Abate G, Blazevic A, Heuertz RM, Hoft DF. Enhancement of innate and cellmediated immunity by antimycobacterial antibodies. Infect Immun 2005; 73: 6711-6720.

 [61] World Health Organization (WHO). Recommendations to assure the quality, safety and efficiacy of BCG vaccines. WHO Technical report series No. 979 2013. http://www.who.int/biologicals/areas/vaccines/TRS_979_Annex_3.pdf
 (Available at 22 October 2014)

[62] Salo EP. BCG in Finland: changing from a universal to a selected programme. Euro Surveill 2006; 11: 18-20.

[63] Brennan PJ, Nikaido H. The envelope of mycobacteria. Annu Rev Biochem 1995; 64: 29-63.

[64] Iseman MD. Tuberculosis therapy: past, present and future. Eur Respir J Suppl 2002; 36: 87s-94s.

[65] World Health Organization (WHO). Treatment of Tuberculosis. Guidelines. Fourth Edition 2010. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241547833_eng.pdf. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[66] Lalloo UG, Ambaram A. New antituberculous drugs in development. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2010; 7: 143-151.

[67] Wallis RS, Wang C, Doherty TM, Onyebujoh P, Vahedi M, Laang H, Olesen O, Parida S, Zumla A. Biomarkers for tuberculosis disease activity, cure, and relapse. Lancet Infect Dis 2010; 10: 68-69.

[68] McNerney R, Daley P. Towards a point-of-care test for active tuberculosis: obstacles and opportunities. Nat Rev Microbiol 2011; 9: 204-213.

[69] Temmerman S, Pethe K, Parra M, Alonso S, Rouanet C, Pickett T, Drowart A, Debrie AS, Delogu G, Menozzi FD, Sergheraert C, Brennan MJ, Mascart F, Locht C. Methylation-dependent T cell immunity to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* heparin-binding hemagglutinin. Nat Med 2004; 10: 935-941.

[70] Masungi C, Temmerman S, Van Vooren JP, Drowart A, Pethe K, Menozzi FD, Locht C, Mascart F. Differential T and B cell responses against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* heparin-binding hemagglutinin adhesin in infected healthy individuals and patients with tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 2002; 185: 513-520.

[71] Hougardy JM, Schepers K, Place S, Drowart A, Lechevin V, Verscheure V, Debrie AS, Doherty TM, Van Vooren JP, Locht C, Mascart F. Heparin-Binding-Hemagglutinin-Induced IFN-gamma Release as a Diagnostic Tool for Latent Tuberculosis. PLoS ONE 2007; 2: e926.

[72] Leyten EM, Lin MY, Franken KL, Friggen AH, Prins C, van Meijgaarden KE, Voskuil MI, Weldingh K, Andersen P, Schoolnik GK, Arend SM, Ottenhoff TH, Klein MR. Human T-cell responses to 25 novel antigens encoded by genes of the dormancy regulon of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Microbes Infect 2006; 8: 2052-2060.

[73] Black GF, Thiel BA, Ota MO, Parida SK, Adegbola R, Boom WH, Dockrell HM, Franken KL, Friggen AH, Hill PC, Klein MR, Lalor MK, Mayanja H, Schoolnik G, Stanley K, Weldingh K, Kaufmann SH, Walzl

G, Ottenhoff TH, GCGH Biomarkers for TB Consortium. Immunogenicity of novel DosR regulonencoded candidate antigens of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in three high-burden populations in Africa. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2009; 16: 1203-1212.

[74] Riano F, Arroyo L, Paris S, Rojas M, Friggen AH, van Meijgaarden KE, Franken KL, Ottenhoff TH, Garcia LF, Barrera LF. T cell responses to DosR and Rpf proteins in actively and latently infected individuals from Colombia. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2012; 92: 148-159.

[75] Chegou NN, Black GF, Loxton AG, Stanley K, Essone PN, Klein MR, Parida SK, Kaufmann SH, Doherty TM, Friggen AH, Franken KL, Ottenhoff TH, Walzl G. Potential of novel *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection phase-dependent antigens in the diagnosis of TB disease in a high burden setting. BMC Infect Dis 2012.;12: 10-2334-12-10.

[76] Schuck SD, Mueller H, Kunitz F, Neher A, Hoffmann H, Franken KL, Repsilber D, Ottenhoff TH, Kaufmann SH, Jacobsen M. Identification of T-cell antigens specific for latent mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. PLoS One 2009; 4: e5590.

[77] Chen J, Su X, Zhang Y, Wang S, Shao L, Wu J, Wang F, Zhang S, Wang J, Weng X, Wang H, Zhang W. Novel recombinant RD2- and RD11-encoded Mycobacterium tuberculosis antigens are potential candidates for diagnosis of tuberculosis infections in BCG-vaccinated individuals. Microbes Infect 2009; 11: 876-885.

[78] Wang S, Chen J, Zhang Y, Diao N, Zhang S, Wu J, Lu C, Wang F, Gao Y, Shao L, Jin J, Weng X, Zhang W. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* region of difference (RD) 2 antigen Rv1985c and RD11 antigen Rv3425 have the promising potential to distinguish patients with active tuberculosis from M. bovis BCG-vaccinated individuals. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2013; 20: 69-76.

[79] Rosenkrands I, Aagaard C, Weldingh K, Brock I, Dziegiel MH, Singh M, Hoff S, Ravn P, Andersen P. Identification of Rv0222 from RD4 as a novel serodiagnostic target for tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2008; 88: 335-343.

[80] Ruhwald M, Aabye MG, Ravn P. IP-10 release assays in the diagnosis of tuberculosis infection: current status and future directions. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2012; 12: 175-187.

[81] Ruhwald M, Bjerregaard-Andersen M, Rabna P, Kofoed K, Eugen-Olsen J, Ravn P. CXCL10/IP-10 release is induced by incubation of whole blood from tuberculosis patients with ESAT-6, CFP10 and TB7.7. Microbes Infect 2007; 9: 806-812.

[82] Wang S, Diao N, Lu C, Wu J, Gao Y, Chen J, Zhou Z, Huang H, Shao L, Jin J, Weng X, Zhang Y, Zhang W. Evaluation of the diagnostic potential of IP-10 and IL-2 as biomarkers for the diagnosis of active and latent tuberculosis in a BCG-vaccinated population; PLoS One 2012. 7: e51338.

[83] Kabeer BS, Raja A, Raman B, Thangaraj S, Leportier M, Ippolito G, Girardi E, Lagrange PH, Goletti D. IP-10 response to RD1 antigens might be a useful biomarker for monitoring tuberculosis therapy. BMC Infect Dis 2011; 11: 135-2334-11-135.

[84] Aabye MG, Eugen-Olsen J, Werlinrud AM, Holm LL, Tuuminen T, Ravn P, Ruhwald M. A simple method to quantitate IP-10 in dried blood and plasma spots. PLoS One 2012; 7: e39228.

[85] Aabye MG, Latorre I, Diaz J, Maldonado J, Mialdea I, Eugen-Olsen J, Ravn P, Dominguez J, Ruhwald M. Dried plasma spots in the diagnosis of TB: IP-10 release assay on filter paper; Eur Respir J 2013.

[86] Aabye MG, Ruhwald M, Praygod G, Jeremiah K, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Faurholt-Jepsen D, Range N, Friis H, Changalucha J, Andersen AB, Ravn P. Potential of interferon-gamma-inducible protein 10 in improving tuberculosis diagnosis in HIV-infected patients. Eur Respir J 2010; 36: 1488-1490.

[87] Kabeer BS, Sikhamani R, Raja A. Comparison of interferon gamma and interferon gammainducible protein-10 secretion in HIV-tuberculosis patients. AIDS 2010; 24: 323-325.

[88] Lighter-Fisher J, Peng CH, Tse DB. Cytokine responses to QuantiFERON(R) peptides, purified protein derivative and recombinant ESAT-6 in children with tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2010; 14: 1548-1555.

[89] Dheda K, Chang JS, Breen RA, Kim LU, Haddock JA, Huggett JF, Johnson MA, Rook GA, Zumla A. In vivo and in vitro studies of a novel cytokine, interleukin 4delta2, in pulmonary tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 172: 501-508.

[90] Peter J, Green C, Hoelscher M, Mwaba P, Zumla A, Dheda K. Urine for the diagnosis of tuberculosis: current approaches, clinical applicability, and new developments. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2010; 16: 262-270.

[91] Hamasur B, Bruchfeld J, Haile M, Pawlowski A, Bjorvatn B, Kallenius G, Svenson SB. Rapid diagnosis of tuberculosis by detection of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan in urine. J Microbiol Methods 2001; 45: 41-52.

[92] Tessema TA, Hamasur B, Bjun G, Svenson S, Bjorvatn B. Diagnostic evaluation of urinary lipoarabinomannan at an Ethiopian tuberculosis centre. Scand J Infect Dis 2001; 33: 279-284.

[93] Dheda K, Davids V, Lenders L, Roberts T, Meldau R, Ling D, Brunet L, van Zyl Smit R, Peter J, Green C, Badri M, Sechi L, Sharma S, Hoelscher M, Dawson R, Whitelaw A, Blackburn J, Pai M, Zumla A. Clinical utility of a commercial LAM-ELISA assay for TB diagnosis in HIV-infected patients using urine and sputum samples. PLoS One 2010; 5: e9848.

[94] Lawn SD. Point-of-care detection of lipoarabinomannan (LAM) in urine for diagnosis of HIV-associated tuberculosis: a state of the art review. BMC Infect Dis 2012; 12: 103.

[95] Boehme C, Molokova E, Minja F, Geis S, Loscher T, Maboko L, Koulchin V, Hoelscher M. Detection of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan with an antigen-capture ELISA in unprocessed urine of Tanzanian patients with suspected tuberculosis. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2005; 99: 893-900.

[96] Reither K, Saathoff E, Jung J, Minja LT, Kroidl I, Saad E, Huggett JF, Ntinginya EN, Maganga L, Maboko L, Hoelscher M. Low sensitivity of a urine LAM-ELISA in the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. BMC Infect Dis 2009; 9: 141.

[97] Mutetwa R, Boehme C, Dimairo M, Bandason T, Munyati SS, Mangwanya D, Mungofa S, Butterworth AE, Mason PR, Corbett EL. Diagnostic accuracy of commercial urinary lipoarabinomannan detection in African tuberculosis suspects and patients. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009; 13: 1253-1259.

[98] Shah M, Variava E, Holmes CB, Coppin A, Golub JE, McCallum J, Wong M, Luke B, Martin DJ, Chaisson RE, Dorman SE, Martinson NA. Diagnostic accuracy of a urine lipoarabinomannan test for tuberculosis in hospitalized patients in a High HIV prevalence setting. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2009; 52: 145-151.

[99] Wood R, Racow K, Bekker LG, Middelkoop K, Vogt M, Kreiswirth BN, Lawn SD. Lipoarabinomannan in urine during tuberculosis treatment: association with host and pathogen factors and mycobacteriuria. BMC Infect Dis 2012; 12: 47.

[100] Talbot E, Munseri P, Teixeira P, Matee M, Bakari M, Lahey T, von Reyn F. Test Characteristics of Urinary Lipoarabinomannan and Predictors of Mortality among Hospitalized HIV-Infected Tuberculosis Suspects in Tanzania. PLoS One 2012; 7: e32876.

[101] Daley P, Michael JS, Hmar P, Latha A, Chordia P, Mathai D, John KR, Pai M. Blinded evaluation of commercial urinary lipoarabinomannan for active tuberculosis: a pilot study. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009; 13: 989-995.

[102] Shah M, Martinson NA, Chaisson RE, Martin DJ, Variava E, Dorman SE. Quantitative analysis of a urine-based assay for detection of lipoarabinomannan in patients with tuberculosis. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48: 2972-2974.

[103] Lawn SD, Edwards DJ, Kranzer K, Vogt M, Bekker LG, Wood R. Urine lipoarabinomannan assay for tuberculosis screening before antiretroviral therapy diagnostic yield and association with immune reconstitution disease. AIDS 2009; 23: 1875-1880.

[104] Conesa-Botella A, Loembe MM, Manabe YC, Worodria W, Mazakpwe D, Luzinda K, Mayanja-Kizza H, Miri M, Mbabazi O, Koole O, Kestens L, Colebunders R, For the TB IRIS Group. Urinary Lipoarabinomannan as Predictor for the Tuberculosis Immune Reconstitution Inflammatory Syndrome. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2011; 58: 463-468.

[105] Minion J, Leung E, Talbot E, Dheda K, Pai M, Menzies D. Diagnosing tuberculosis with urine lipoarabinomannan: systematic review and meta-analysis; Eur Respir J 2011.

[106] Dheda K, Ruhwald M, Theron G, Peter J, Yam WC. Point-of-care diagnosis of tuberculosis: past, present and future. Respirology 2013; 18: 217-232.

[107] Lawn SD, Dheda K, Kerkhoff AD, Peter JG, Dorman S, Boehme CC, Nicol MP. Determine TB-LAM lateral flow urine antigen assay for HIV-associated tuberculosis: recommendations on the design and reporting of clinical studies. BMC Infect Dis 2013; 13: 407.

[108] Wallis RS, Perkins M, Phillips M, Joloba M, Demchuk B, Namale A, Johnson JL, Williams D, Wolski K, Teixeira L, Dietze R, Mugerwa RD, Eisenach K, Ellner JJ. Induction of the antigen 85 complex of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in sputum: a determinant of outcome in pulmonary tuberculosis treatment. J Infect Dis 1998; 178: 1115-1121.

[109] Wallis RS, Phillips M, Johnson JL, Teixeira L, Rocha LM, Maciel E, Rose L, Wells C, Palaci M, Dietze R, Eisenach K, Ellner JJ. Inhibition of isoniazid-induced expression of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* antigen 85 in sputum: potential surrogate marker in tuberculosis chemotherapy trials. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2001; 45: 1302-1304.

[110] Bentley-Hibbert SI, Quan X, Newman T, Huygen K, Godfrey HP. Pathophysiology of antigen 85 in patients with active tuberculosis: antigen 85 circulates as complexes with fibronectin and immunoglobulin G. Infect Immun 1999; 67: 581-588.

[111] Kashyap RS, Rajan AN, Ramteke SS, Agrawal VS, Kelkar SS, Purohit HJ, Taori GM, Daginawala HF. Diagnosis of tuberculosis in an Indian population by an indirect ELISA protocol based on detection of Antigen 85 complex: a prospective cohort study. BMC Infect Dis 2007; 7: 74.

[112] Kashino SS, Pollock N, Napolitano DR, Rodrigues V,Jr, Campos-Neto A. Identification and characterization of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* antigens in urine of patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis: an innovative and alternative approach of antigen discovery of useful microbial molecules. Clin Exp Immunol 2008; 153: 56-62.

[113] Pollock NR, Macovei L, Kanunfre K, Dhiman R, Restrepo BI, Zarate I, Pino PA, Mora-Guzman F, Fujiwara RT, Michel G, Kashino SS, Campos-Neto A. Validation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Rv1681 protein as a diagnostic marker of active pulmonary tuberculosis. J Clin Microbiol 2013; 51: 1367-1373.

[114] Sechi LA, Pinna MP, Sanna A, Pirina P, Ginesu F, Saba F, Aceti A, Turrini F, Zanetti S, Fadda G. Detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by PCR analysis of urine and other clinical samples from AIDS and non-HIV-infected patients. Mol Cell Probes 1997; 11: 281-285.

[115] Green C, Huggett JF, Talbot E, Mwaba P, Reither K, Zumla AI. Rapid diagnosis of tuberculosis through the detection of mycobacterial DNA in urine by nucleic acid amplification methods. Lancet Infect Dis 2009; 9: 505-511.

[116] Boehme CC, Nabeta P, Henostroza G, Raqib R, Rahim Z, Gerhardt M, Sanga E, Hoelscher M, Notomi T, Hase T, Perkins MD. Operational feasibility of using loop-mediated isothermal amplification for diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in microscopy centers of developing countries. J Clin Microbiol 2007; 45: 1936-1940.

[117] Mitarai S, Okumura M, Toyota E, Yoshiyama T, Aono A, Sejimo A, Azuma Y, Sugahara K, Nagasawa T, Nagayama N, Yamane A, Yano R, Kokuto H, Morimoto K, Ueyama M, Kubota M, Yi R, Ogata H, Kudoh S, Mori T. Evaluation of a simple loop-mediated isothermal amplification test kit for the diagnosis of tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2011; 15: 1211-7.

[118] Phillips M, Basa-Dalay V, Blais J, Bothamley G, Chaturvedi A, Modi KD, Pandya M, Natividad MP, Patel U, Ramraje NN, Schmitt P, Udwadia ZF. Point-of-care breath test for biomarkers of active pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2012; 92: 314-320.

[119] Phillips M, Basa-Dalay V, Bothamley G, Cataneo RN, Lam PK, Natividad MP, Schmitt P, Wai J. Breath biomarkers of active pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2010; 90: 145-151.

[120] Immanuel C, Rajeswari R, Rahman F, Kumaran PP, Chandrasekaran V, Swamy R. Serial evaluation of serum neopterin in HIV seronegative patients treated for tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2001; 5: 185-190.

[121] Turgut T, Akbulut H, Deveci F, Kacar C, Muz MH. Serum interleukin-2 and neopterin levels as useful markers for treatment of active pulmonary tuberculosis. Tohoku J Exp Med 2006; 209: 321-328.

[122] Lai CK, Wong KC, Chan CH, Ho SS, Chung SY, Haskard DO, Lai KN. Circulating adhesion molecules in tuberculosis. Clin Exp Immunol 1993; 94: 522-526.

[123] Djoba Siawaya JF, Bapela NB, Ronacher K, Veenstra H, Kidd M, Gie R, Beyers N, van Helden P, Walzl G. Immune parameters as markers of tuberculosis extent of disease and early prediction of antituberculosis chemotherapy response. J Infect 2008; 56: 340-347.

[124] Eugen-Olsen J, Gustafson P, Sidenius N, Fischer TK, Parner J, Aaby P, Gomes VF, Lisse I. The serum level of soluble urokinase receptor is elevated in tuberculosis patients and predicts mortality during treatment: a community study from Guinea-Bissau. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2002; 6: 686-692.

[125] Backes Y, van der Sluijs KF, Mackie DP, Tacke F, Koch A, Tenhunen JJ, Schultz MJ. Usefulness of suPAR as a biological marker in patients with systemic inflammation or infection: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med 2012; 38: 1418-1428.

[126] Rabna P, Andersen A, Wejse C, Oliveira I, Gomes VF, Haaland MB, Aaby P, Eugen-Olsen J. Utility of the plasma level of suPAR in monitoring risk of mortality during TB treatment. PLoS One 2012; 7: e43933.

[127] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Division of tuberculosis elimination. Core curriculum of tuberculosis 2013.

http://www.cdc.gov/TB/publications/slidesets/corecurr/default.htm.

(Available at 22 October 2014)

[128] Steingart KR, Henry M, Ng V, Hopewell PC, Ramsay A, Cunningham J, Urbanczik R, Perkins M, Aziz MA, Pai M. Fluorescence versus conventional sputum smear microscopy for tuberculosis: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis 2006; 6: 570-581.

[129] Warren JR, Bhattacharya M, De Almeida KN, Trakas K, Peterson LR. A minimum 5.0 ml of sputum improves the sensitivity of acid-fast smear for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161: 1559-1562.

[130] Saceanu CA, Pfeiffer NC, McLean T. Evaluation of sputum smears concentrated by cytocentrifugation for detection of acid-fast bacilli. J Clin Microbiol 1993; 31: 2371-2374.

[131] Trusov A, Bumgarner R, Valijev R, Chestnova R, Talevski S, Vragoterova C, Neeley ES. Comparison of Lumin LED fluorescent attachment, fluorescent microscopy and Ziehl-Neelsen for AFB diagnosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009; 13: 836-841.

[132] Donald PR, Diacon AH. The early bactericidal activity of anti-tuberculosis drugs: a literature review. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2008; 88 Suppl 1: S75-83.

[133] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Updated Guidelines for the Use of Nucleic Acid Amplification Tests in the Diagnosis of Tuberculosis 2009. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5801a3.htm. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[134] Piersimoni C, Scarparo C. Relevance of commercial amplification methods for direct detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex in clinical samples. J Clin Microbiol 2003; 41: 5355-5365.
[135] Blakemore R, Story E, Helb D, Kop J, Banada P, Owens MR, Chakravorty S, Jones M, Alland D. Evaluation of the analytical performance of the Xpert MTB/RIF assay. J Clin Microbiol 2010; 48: 2495-2501.

[136] Chang K, Lu W, Wang J, Zhang K, Jia S, Li F, Deng S, Chen M. Rapid and effective diagnosis of tuberculosis and rifampicin resistance with Xpert MTB/RIF assay: a meta-analysis. J Infect 2012; 64: 580-588.

[137] World Health Organization (WHO). Automated Real-time Nucleic Acid Amplification for Rapid and Simultaneus Detection of Tuberculosis and Rifampicin Resistence: Gene Xpert MTB/RIF System. Policy Statement. 2011. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9789241501545_eng.pdf. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[138] Aryan E, Makvandi M, Farajzadeh A, Huygen K, Alvandi AH, Gouya MM, Sadrizadeh A, Romano M. Clinical value of IS6110-based loop-mediated isothermal amplification for detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex in respiratory specimens. J Infect 2013. 66: 487-493.

[139] Egr WHO. Molecular line probe assays for rabid screening of patients at risk of multi-drug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) 2008. http://www.who.int/tb/features_archive/expert_group_report_june08.pdf. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[140] Daniel TM. The history of tuberculosis. Respir Med 2006; 100: 1862-1870.

[141] Andersen P, Munk ME, Pollock JM, Doherty TM. Specific immune-based diagnosis of tuberculosis. Lancet 2000; 356: 1099-1104.

[142] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Targeted Tuberculin Testing and Treatment of Latent Tuberculosis Infection. 2000 http://www.cdc.gov/MMWR/PDF/rr/rr4906.pdf. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[143] Chaparas SD, Maloney CJ, Hedrick SR. Specificity of tuberculins and antigens from various species of mycobacteria. Am Rev Respir Dis 1970; 101: 74-83.

[144] Converse PJ, Jones SL, Astemborski J, Vlahov D, Graham NM. Comparison of a tuberculin interferon-gamma assay with the tuberculin skin test in high-risk adults: effect of human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Infect Dis 1997; 176: 144-150.

[145] Rose MV, Kimaro G, Nissen TN, Kroidl I, Hoelscher M, Bygbjerg IC, Mfinanga SG, Ravn P. QuantiFERON(R)-TB gold in-tube performance for diagnosing active tuberculosis in children and adults in a high burden setting. PLoS One 2012; 7: e37851.

[146] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Guidance. Use of interferongamma release assays in support of TB diagnosis 2011. http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/publications/1103_gui_igra.pdf. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[147] Qiagen. QuantiFERON[®] Technology.http://www.qiagen.com/resources/technologies/qft_technology-spotlightpages/#basis. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[148] Oxford Immunotech. Priciples of the T-SPOT Assay. http://www.oxfordimmunotec.com/How_It_Works_International. (Available at 22 October 2014)

[149] Mahairas GG, Sabo PJ, Hickey MJ, Singh DC, Stover CK. Molecular analysis of genetic differences between *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG and virulent M. bovis. J Bacteriol 1996, 178: 1274-1282.

[150] Sester M, Sotgiu G, Lange C, Giehl C, Girardi E, Migliori GB, Bossink A, Dheda K, Diel R, Dominguez J, Lipman M, Nemeth J, Ravn P, Winkler S, Huitric E, Sandgren A, Manissero D. Interferongamma release assays for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J 2011; 37: 100-111.

[151] Diel R, Goletti D, Ferrara G, Bothamley G, Cirillo D, Kampmann B, Lange C, Losi M, Markova R, Migliori GB, Nienhaus A, Ruhwald M, Wagner D, Zellweger JP, Huitric E, Sandgren A, Manissero D. Interferon-gamma release assays for the diagnosis of latent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J 2011; 37: 88-99.

[152] Pai M, Denkinger CM, Kik SV, Rangaka MX, Zwerling A, Oxlade O, Metcalfe JZ, Cattamanchi A, Dowdy DW, Dheda K, Banaei N. Gamma Interferon Release Assays for Detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 2014; 27: 3-20.

[153] World Health Organization (WHO). Policy statement. Commercial serodiagnostic tests for diagnosis of tuberculosis 2011.
http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9789241502054_eng.pdf.
(Available at 22 October 2014)

[154] Menozzi FD, Rouse JH, Alavi M, Laude-Sharp M, Muller J, Bischoff R, Brennan MJ, Locht C. Identification of a heparin-binding hemagglutinin present in mycobacteria. J Exp Med 1996; 184: 993-1001.

[155] Pethe K, Bifani P, Drobecq H, Sergheraert C, Debrie AS, Locht C, Menozzi FD. Mycobacterial heparin-binding hemagglutinin and laminin-binding protein share antigenic methyllysines that confer resistance to proteolysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99: 10759-10764.

[156] Menozzi FD, Bischoff R, Fort E, Brennan MJ, Locht C. Molecular characterization of the mycobacterial heparin-binding hemagglutinin, a mycobacterial adhesin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998; 95: 12625-12630.

[157] Pethe K, Alonso S, Biet F, Delogu G, Brennan MJ, Locht C, Menozzi FD. The heparin-binding haemagglutinin of *M. tuberculosis* is required for extrapulmonary dissemination. Nature 2001; 412: 190-194.

[158] Delogu G, Bua A, Pusceddu C, Parra M, Fadda G, Brennan MJ, Zanetti S. Expression and purification of recombinant methylated HBHA in *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2004; 239: 33-39.

[159] Zanetti S, Bua A, Delogu G, Pusceddu C, Mura M, Saba F, Pirina P, Garzelli C, Vertuccio C, Sechi LA, Fadda G. Patients with pulmonary tuberculosis develop a strong humoral response against methylated heparin-binding hemagglutinin. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 2005; 12: 1135-1138.

[160] Delogu G, Chiacchio T, Vanini V, Butera O, Cuzzi G, Bua A, Molicotti P, Zanetti S, Lauria FN, Grisetti S, Magnavita N, Fadda G, Girardi E, Goletti D. Methylated HBHA produced in *M. smegmatis* discriminates between active and non-active tuberculosis disease among RD1-responders. PLoS One 2011; 6: e18315.

[161] Shin AR, Lee KS, Lee JS, Kim SY, Song CH, Jung SB, Yang CS, Jo EK, Park JK, Paik TH, Kim HJ. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* HBHA protein reacts strongly with the serum immunoglobulin M of tuberculosis patients. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2006; 13: 869-875.

[162] Wayne LG, Sohaskey CD. Nonreplicating persistence of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Annu Rev Microbiol 2001; 55: 139-163.

[163] Voskuil MI, Schnappinger D, Visconti KC, Harrell MI, Dolganov GM, Sherman DR, Schoolnik GK. Inhibition of respiration by nitric oxide induces a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* dormancy program. J Exp Med 2003; 198: 705-713.

[164] Leistikow RL, Morton RA, Bartek IL, Frimpong I, Wagner K, Voskuil MI. The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* DosR regulon assists in metabolic homeostasis and enables rapid recovery from nonrespiring dormancy. J Bacteriol 2010; 192: 1662-1670.

[165] Goletti D, Butera O, Vanini V, Lauria FN, Lange C, Franken KL, Angeletti C, Ottenhoff TH, Girardi E. Response to Rv2628 latency antigen associates with cured tuberculosis and remote infection. Eur Respir J 2010; 36: 135-142.

[166] Huang W, Qi Y, Ren C, Wen H, Franken KL, Ottenhoff TH, Shen J. Interferon-gamma responses to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Rpf proteins in contact investigation. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2013; 93: 612-7.

[167] Behr MA, Wilson MA, Gill WP, Salamon H, Schoolnik GK, Rane S, Small PM. Comparative genomics of BCG vaccines by whole-genome DNA microarray. Science 1999; 284: 1520-1523.

[168] Kunnath-Velayudhan S, Salamon H, Wang HY, Davidow AL, Molina DM, Huynh VT, Cirillo DM, Michel G, Talbot EA, Perkins MD, Felgner PL, Liang X, Gennaro ML. Dynamic antibody responses to the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* proteome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010; 107: 14703-14708.

[169] Li Y, Zeng J, Shi J, Wang M, Rao M, Xue C, Du Y, He ZG. A proteome-scale identification of novel antigenic proteins in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* toward diagnostic and vaccine development. J Proteome Res 2010; 9: 4812-4822.

[170] Seah GT, Rook GA. A sensitive, non-radioactive quantitative method for measuring IL-4 and IL-4 delta2 mRNA in unstimulated cells from multiple clinical samples, using nested RT-PCR. J Immunol Methods 1999; 228: 139-149.

[171] Lewis DB, Prickett KS, Larsen A, Grabstein K, Weaver M, Wilson CB. Restricted production of interleukin 4 by activated human T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988; 85: 9743-9747.

[172] Atamas SP, Choi J, Yurovsky VV, White B. An alternative splice variant of human IL-4, IL-4 delta 2, inhibits IL-4-stimulated T cell proliferation. J Immunol 1996; 156: 435-441.

[173] Vasiliev AM, Vasilenko RN, Kulikova NL, Andreev SM, Chikileva IO, Puchkova GY, Kosarev IV, Khodyakova AV, Khlebnikov VS, Ptitsyn LR, Shcherbakov GY, Uversky VN, DuBuske LM, Abramov VM. Structural and functional properties of IL-4delta2, an alternative splice variant of human IL-4. J Proteome Res 2003; 2: 273-281.

[174] Seah GT, Scott GM, Rook GA. Type 2 cytokine gene activation and its relationship to extent of disease in patients with tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 2000; 181: 385-389.

[175] Demissie A, Leyten EM, Abebe M, Wassie L, Aseffa A, Abate G, Fletcher H, Owiafe P, Hill PC, Brookes R, Rook G, Zumla A, Arend SM, Klein M, Ottenhoff TH, Andersen P, Doherty TM, the VACSEL Study Group. Recognition of stage-specific mycobacterial antigens differentiates between acute and latent infections with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2006; 13: 179-186.

[176] Liu L, Chahroudi A, Silvestri G, Wernett ME, Kaiser WJ, Safrit JT, Komoriya A, Altman JD, Packard BZ, Feinberg MB. Visualization and quantification of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity using cell-permeable fluorogenic caspase substrates. Nat Med 2002; 8: 185-189.

[177] Rininsland FH, Helms T, Asaad RJ, Boehm BO, Tary-Lehmann M. Granzyme B ELISPOT assay for ex vivo measurements of T cell immunity. J Immunol Methods 2000; 240: 143-155.

[178] Betts MR, Brenchley JM, Price DA, De Rosa SC, Douek DC, Roederer M, Koup RA. Sensitive and viable identification of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells by a flow cytometric assay for degranulation. J Immunol Methods 2003; 281: 65-78.

[179] Canaday DH, Wilkinson RJ, Li Q, Harding CV, Silver RF, Boom WH. CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells kill intracellular *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by a perforin and Fas/Fas ligand-independent mechanism. J Immunol 2001; 167: 2734-2742.

[180] Kamath AB, Woodworth J, Xiong X, Taylor C, Weng Y, Behar SM. Cytolytic CD8+ T cells recognizing CFP10 are recruited to the lung after *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Exp Med 2004; 200: 1479-1489.

[181] Takata H, Takiguchi M. Three memory subsets of human CD8+ T cells differently expressing three cytolytic effector molecules. J Immunol 2006; 177: 4330-4340.

[182] Zuber B, Levitsky V, Jonsson G, Paulie S, Samarina A, Grundstrom S, Metkar S, Norell H, Callender GG, Froelich C, Ahlborg N. Detection of human perforin by ELISpot and ELISA: ex vivo identification of virus-specific cells. J Immunol Methods 2005; 302: 13-25.

[183] Lazarevic V, Nolt D, Flynn JL. Long-term control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection is mediated by dynamic immune responses. J Immunol 2005; 175: 1107-1117.

[184] Wu B, Huang C, Kato-Maeda M, Hopewell PC, Daley CL, Krensky AM, Clayberger C. Messenger RNA expression of IL-8, FOXP3, and IL-12beta differentiates latent tuberculosis infection from disease. J Immunol 2007; 178: 3688-3694.

[185] Sutherland JS, de Jong BC, Jeffries DJ, Adetifa IM, Ota MO. Production of TNF-alpha, IL-12(p40) and IL-17 can discriminate between active TB disease and latent infection in a West African cohort. PLoS One 2010; 5: e12365.

[186] Mihret A, Bekele Y, Bobosha K, Kidd M, Aseffa A, Howe R, Walzl G. Plasma cytokines and chemokines differentiate between active disease and non-active tuberculosis infection. J Infect 2013; 66: 357-365.

[187] Berry MP, Graham CM, McNab FW, Xu Z, Bloch SA, Oni T, Wilkinson KA, Banchereau R, Skinner J, Wilkinson RJ, Quinn C, Blankenship D, Dhawan R, Cush JJ, Mejias A, Ramilo O, Kon OM, Pascual V, Banchereau J, Chaussabel D, O'Garra A. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. Nature 2010; 466: 973-977.

[188] Maertzdorf J, Weiner J,3rd, Mollenkopf HJ, TBornotTB Network, Bauer T, Prasse A, Muller-Quernheim J, Kaufmann SH. Common patterns and disease-related signatures in tuberculosis and sarcoidosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012; 109: 7853-7858.

[189] Lu C, Wu J, Wang H, Wang S, Diao N, Wang F, Gao Y, Chen J, Shao L, Weng X, Zhang Y, Zhang W. Novel biomarkers distinguishing active tuberculosis from latent infection identified by gene expression profile of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. PLoS One 2011; 6: e24290.

[190] Agranoff D, Fernandez-Reyes D, Papadopoulos MC, Rojas SA, Herbster M, Loosemore A, Tarelli E, Sheldon J, Schwenk A, Pollok R, Rayner CF, Krishna S. Identification of diagnostic markers for tuberculosis by proteomic fingerprinting of serum. Lancet 2006; 368: 1012-1021.

[191] Sandhu G, Battaglia F, Ely BK, Athanasakis D, Montoya R, Valencia T, Gilman RH, Evans CA, Friedland JS, Fernandez-Reyes D, Agranoff DD. Discriminating active from latent tuberculosis in patients presenting to community clinics. PLoS One 2012; 7: e38080.

[192] Chan J, Fan XD, Hunter SW, Brennan PJ, Bloom BR. Lipoarabinomannan, a possible virulence factor involved in persistence of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* within macrophages. Infect Immun 1991; 59: 1755-1761.

[193] Mishra AK, Driessen NN, Appelmelk BJ, Besra GS. Lipoarabinomannan and related glycoconjugates: structure, biogenesis and role in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* physiology and host-pathogen interaction. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2011; 35: 1126-57.

[194] Cho SN, Shin JS, Kim JD, Chong Y. Production of monoclonal antibodies to lipoarabinomannan-B and use in the detection of mycobacterial antigens in sputum. Yonsei Med J 1990; 31: 333-338.

[195] Sada E, Aguilar D, Torres M, Herrera T. Detection of lipoarabinomannan as a diagnostic test for tuberculosis. J Clin Microbiol 1992; 30: 2415-2418.

[196] Sarkar S, Tang XL, Das D, Spencer JS, Lowary TL, Suresh MR. A bispecific antibody based assay shows potential for detecting tuberculosis in resource constrained laboratory settings. PLoS One 2012; 7: e32340.

[197] Patel VB, Bhigjee AI, Paruk HF, Singh R, Meldau R, Connolly C, Ndung'u T, Dheda K. Utility of a novel lipoarabinomannan assay for the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis in a resource-poor high-HIV prevalence setting. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res 2009; 6: 13.

[198] Dheda K, Van-Zyl Smit RN, Sechi LA, Badri M, Meldau R, Symons G, Khalfey H, Carr I, Maredza A, Dawson R, Wainright H, Whitelaw A, Bateman ED, Zumla A. Clinical diagnostic utility of IP-10 and LAM

antigen levels for the diagnosis of tuberculous pleural effusions in a high burden setting. PLoS One 2009; 4: e4689.

[199] Pereira Arias-Bouda LM, Nguyen LN, Ho LM, Kuijper S, Jansen HM, Kolk AH. Development of antigen detection assay for diagnosis of tuberculosis using sputum samples. J Clin Microbiol 2000; 38: 2278-2283.

[200] Belisle JT, Vissa VD, Sievert T, Takayama K, Brennan PJ, Besra GS. Role of the major antigen of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in cell wall biogenesis. Science 1997; 276: 1420-1422.

[201] Garbe TR, Hibler NS, Deretic V. Isoniazid induces expression of the antigen 85 complex in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1996; 40: 1754-1756.

[202] Epstein MD, Schluger NW, Davidow AL, Bonk S, Rom WN, Hanna B. Time to detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in sputum culture correlates with outcome in patients receiving treatment for pulmonary tuberculosis. Chest 1998; 113: 379-386.

[203] Melkonyan HS, Feaver WJ, Meyer E, Scheinker V, Shekhtman EM, Xin Z, Umansky SR. Transrenal nucleic acids: from proof of principle to clinical tests. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008; 1137: 73-81.

[204] Botezatu I, Serdyuk O, Potapova G, Shelepov V, Alechina R, Molyaka Y, Ananev V, Bazin I, Garin A, Narimanov M, Knysh V, Melkonyan H, Umansky S, Lichtenstein A. Genetic analysis of DNA excreted in urine: a new approach for detecting specific genomic DNA sequences from cells dying in an organism. Clin Chem 2000; 46: 1078-1084.

[205] Li Y, Zimmermann B, Rusterholz C, Kang A, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. Size separation of circulatory DNA in maternal plasma permits ready detection of fetal DNA polymorphisms. Clin Chem 2004; 50: 1002-1011.

[206] Maertzdorf J, Weiner J,3rd, Kaufmann SH. Enabling biomarkers for tuberculosis control. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2012; 16: 1140-1148.

[207] Banday KM, Pasikanti KK, Chan EC, Singla R, Rao KV, Chauhan VS, Nanda RK. Use of urine volatile organic compounds to discriminate tuberculosis patients from healthy subjects. Anal Chem 2011; 83: 5526-5534.

[208] Murr C, Widner B, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D. Neopterin as a marker for immune system activation. Curr Drug Metab 2002; 3: 175-187.

[209] Yuksekol I, Ozkan M, Akgul O, Tozkoparan E, Al-Rashed M, Balkan A, Hatipoglu K, Bilgic H, Erbil K, Demirci N. Urinary neopterin measurement as a non-invasive diagnostic method in pulmonary tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2003; 7: 771-776.

[210] Hubbard AK, Rothlein R. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression and cell signaling cascades. Free Radic Biol Med 2000; 28: 1379-1386.

[211] Lukacs NW, Chensue SW, Strieter RM, Warmington K, Kunkel SL. Inflammatory granuloma formation is mediated by TNF-alpha-inducible intercellular adhesion molecule-1. J Immunol 1994; 152: 5883-5889.

[212] Demir T, Yalcinoz C, Keskinel I, Demiroz F, Yildirim N. sICAM-1 as a serum marker in the diagnosis and follow-up of treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2002; 6: 155-159.

[213] Mukae H, Ashitani J, Tokojima M, Ihi T, Kohno S, Matsukura S. Elevated levels of circulating adhesion molecules in patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis. Respirology 2003; 8: 326-331.

[214] Franken KL, Hiemstra HS, van Meijgaarden KE, Subronto Y, den Hartigh J, Ottenhoff TH, Drijfhout JW. Purification of his-tagged proteins by immobilized chelate affinity chromatography: the benefits from the use of organic solvent. Protein Expr Purif 2000; 18: 95-99.

[215] Sillanpää H, Lahdenne P, Sarvas H, Arnez M, Steere A, Peltomaa M, Seppälä I. Immune responses to borrelial VIsE IR6 peptide variants. Int J Med Microbiol 2007; 297: 45-52.

[216] Dheda K, Huggett JF, Bustin SA, Johnson MA, Rook G, Zumla A. Validation of housekeeping genes for normalizing RNA expression in real-time PCR. BioTechniques 2004; 37: 112-4, 116, 118-9.

[217] Burl S, Hill PC, Jeffries DJ, Holland MJ, Fox A, Lugos MD, Adegbola RA, Rook GA, Zumla A, McAdam KP, Brookes RH. FOXP3 gene expression in a tuberculosis case contact study. Clin Exp Immunol 2007; 149: 117-122.

[218] Roberts T, Beyers N, Aguirre A, Walzl G. Immunosuppression during active tuberculosis is characterized by decreased interferon- gamma production and CD25 expression with elevated forkhead box P3, transforming growth factor- beta, and interleukin-4 mRNA levels. J Infect Dis 2007; 195: 870-878.

[219] Qiao D, Yang BY, Li L, Ma JJ, Zhang XL, Lao SH, Wu CY. ESAT-6- and CFP-10-specific Th1, Th22 and Th17 cells in tuberculous pleurisy may contribute to the local immune response against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Scand J Immunol 2011; 73: 330-337.

[220] Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. Nat Protoc 2008; 3: 1101-1108.

[221] Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2001; 69: 89-95.

[222] Wallis RS, Pai M, Menzies D, Doherty TM, Walzl G, Perkins MD, Zumla A. Biomarkers and diagnostics for tuberculosis: progress, needs, and translation into practice. Lancet 2010; 375: 1920-1937.

[223] Rizzi EB, Schinina' V, Cristofaro M, Goletti D, Palmieri F, Bevilacqua N, Lauria FN, Girardi E, Bibbolino C. Detection of Pulmonary tuberculosis: comparing MR imaging with HRCT. BMC Infect Dis 2011; 11: 243-2334-11-243.

[224] Locht C, Hougardy J, Rouanet C, Place S, Mascart F. Heparin-binding hemagglutinin, from an extrapulmonary dissemination factor to a powerful diagnostic and protective antigen against tuberculosis. Tuberculosis 2006/0; 86: 303-309.

[225] Smith SG, Lecher S, Blitz R, Locht C, Dockrell HM. Broad heparin-binding haemagglutinin-specific cytokine and chemokine response in infants following *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccination. Eur J Immunol 2012; 42: 2511-2522.

[226] Corbiere V, Pottier G, Bonkain F, Schepers K, Verscheure V, Lecher S, Doherty TM, Locht C, Mascart F. Risk stratification of latent tuberculosis defined by combined interferon gamma release assays. PLoS One 2012; 7: e43285.

[227] Tuuminen T. Urine as a specimen to diagnose infections in twenty-first century: focus on analytical accuracy. Front Immunol 2012; 3: 45.

[228] Kanaujia GV, Lam PK, Perry S, Brusasca PN, Catanzaro A, Gennaro ML. Integration of microscopy and serodiagnostic tests to screen for active tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2005; 9: 1120-1126.

[229] Simonney N, Bourrillon A, Lagrange PH. Analysis of circulating immune complexes (CICs) in childhood tuberculosis: levels of specific antibodies to glycolipid antigens and relationship with serum antibodies. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2000; 4: 152-160.

[230] Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Tollefsen BL, Kemper C, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Differential expression of granzymes A and B in human cytotoxic lymphocyte subsets and T regulatory cells. Blood 2004; 104: 2840-2848.

[231] Tapaninen P, Korhonen A, Pusa L, Seppala I, Tuuminen T. Effector memory T-cells dominate immune responses in tuberculosis treatment: antigen or bacteria persistence? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2010; 14: 347-355.

[232] Andrews JR, Noubary F, Walensky RP, Cerda R, Losina E, Horsburgh CR. Risk of progression to active tuberculosis following reinfection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 54: 784-791.

[233] Wold AE. The hygiene hypothesis revised: is the rising frequency of allergy due to changes in the intestinal flora? Allergy 1998; 53: 20-25.

[234] Okada H, Kuhn C, Feillet H, Bach JF. The 'hygiene hypothesis' for autoimmune and allergic diseases: an update. Clin Exp Immunol 2010; 160: 1-9.

[235] Obihara CC, Beyers N, Gie RP, Potter PC, Marais BJ, Lombard CJ, Enarson DA, Kimpen JL. Inverse association between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection and atopic rhinitis in children. Allergy 2005; 60: 1121-1125.

[236] Obihara CC, Bollen CW, Beyers N, Kimpen JL. Mycobacterial infection and atopy in childhood: a systematic review. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2007; 18: 551-559.

[237] Barton ES, White DW, Cathelyn JS, Brett-McClellan KA, Engle M, Diamond MS, Miller VL, Virgin HW,4th. Herpesvirus latency confers symbiotic protection from bacterial infection. Nature 2007; 447: 326-329.

[238] Marin ND, Paris SC, Rojas M, Garcia LF. Functional profile of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in latently infected individuals and patients with active TB. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2013; 93: 155-166.